Aus dem Institut für Radiologie der Medizinischen Fakultät Charité – Universitätsmedizin Berlin

DISSERTATION

Specimen Radiography: Digital Breast Tomosynthesis versus Full Field Digital Mammography – Which Modality provides more accurate prediction of Margin Status?

zur Erlangung des akademischen Grades Doctor medicine (Dr. med.)

vorgelegt der Medizinischen Fakultät Charité – Universitätsmedizin Berlin

von

Heba Ahmed Ibrahim Amer aus Zagazig, Ägypten

Datum der Promotion: 13 December 2019

Preface

The data presented in this dissertation was published as a first author in the following international journal:

Digital breast tomosynthesis versus full-field digital mammography-Which modality provides more accurate prediction of margin status in specimen radiography?

Amer HA, Schmitzberger F, Ingold-Heppner B, Kussmaul J, El Tohamy MF, Tantawy HI, Hamm B, Makowski M, Fallenberg EM. Eur J Radiol. 2017 Aug;93:258-264. doi: 10.1016/j.ejrad.2017.05.041. Epub 2017 Jun 3.

Table of contents

Li	List of tables			
Li	st of fig	ures	4	
A	Abstract			
1	Intro	ntroduction		
	1.1	Incidence and mortality of breast cancer	9	
	1.2	Histopathological considerations in breast cancer	10	
	1.3	Radiological diagnosis of breast cancer:	15	
	1.3.1	Full Field Digital Mammography (FFDM)	15	
	1.3.2	Breast Ultrasonography (US)	16	
	1.3.3	Magnetic Resonance Imaging (MRI)	16	
	1.3.4	Digital Breast Tomosynthesis (DBT)	17	
	1.4	Surgical treatment for breast cancer	20	
	1.5	Specimen Radiography (SR)	22	
2	Obje	ectives	24	
3	3 Patient and methods		26	
	3.1	Study design	26	
	3.2	Patients population	26	
	3.3	Surgical procedure	27	
	3.4	Imaging protocol	27	
	3.5	Histopathology workup and analysis	28	
	3.6	Image review	28	
	3.7	Data analysis	31	
	3.8	Statistical analysis	32	
4	Resu	ılts	33	
	4.1	Case characteristics	33	
	4.1.1	Histopathology characteristics	33	
	4.1.2	Radiographic appearance	33	
	4.2	Analysis of the direction of the nearest margin	36	
	4.2.1	The accuracy of correct direction detection in correlation to tumor sub-groups	36	
	4.2.2	The accuracy of correct direction detection in correlation to lesion type	37	

	4.2.3	Overall direction agreement between radiology and histopathology	37
	4.3 R	adiological margin status in comparison to the histopathological margin status.	39
	4.3.1	Sensitivity and specificity	39
	4.3.2	Radiological margins correlation to histopathology	41
4.4 Case Examples			45
	4.4.1	Case 1	45
	4.4.2	Case 2	46
	4.4.3	Case 3	47
5	Discus	Discussion	
6	Conclu	Conclusion	
7	Refere	leferences	
List of abbreviations			66
Affidavit			67
Tabellarischer Lebenslauf			68
Declaration of any eventual publications			71
Acknowledgement			72

List of tables

Table 1: Classification of breast cancer 8				
Table 2: TNM classification of breast cancer				
Table 3: Histopathological findings in the 102 cases 28				
Table 4: Margin status of the 102 specimens				
Table 5: Mammographic abnormality by each modality				
Table 6: Lesion visibility by each modality 30				
Table 7: Accuracy of direction identification by each modality according to tumor				
types				
Table 8: Accuracy of direction identification by each modality according to				
mammographic findings 32				
Table 9: Direction agreement between radiology and histopathology				
Table 10: Correct prediction of margin status by each modality according to tumor				
types				
Table 11: Sensitivity of each modality for margin status				
Table 12: Correct prediction of margin status by each modality according				
to mammographic types				
Table 13: Limits of agreement for measurements difference between each				
modality to pathology				
Table 14: Wilcoxon signed rank test (each modality vs pathology)				
Table 15: Concordance between each modality margin measurements and				
histopathological margin measurements				

Page

List of figures

Figure 1: DBT imaging technique	13
Figure 2: Closest margin width in excised specimen	25
Figure 3: FFDM specimen views	26
Figure 4: Bland-Altman plots (each modality vs Pathology)	36
Figure 7: Case Example 1	42
Figure 8: Case Example 2	43
Figure 9: Case Example 3	44

Abstract

Introduction

Radiography of the excised surgical specimen following image-guided wire localization of impalpable breast lesions is now the accepted standard practice to define resection status in breast conserving surgery. However, margin correlation in specimen radiography performed by routine full-field digital mammography (FFDM) with corresponding histopathology is still very disappointing.

The present study was performed to evaluate the usability of digital breast tomosynthesis (DBT) in performing specimen radiography and to measure its accuracy in identifying the mammographic appearance and margins status of the operated lesion, compared to FFDM. The histopathology findings were considered to be the gold standard.

Patient and methods

After ethics-board approval, 102 patients who underwent breast conservative surgery for non-palpable breast lesions were included. All patients underwent ultrasound/mammography guided wire localization of their proven breast carcinoma. After excision, specimens were marked for orientation and imaged using FFDM (2-views) and DBT (1-view). Two blinded readers (R1, R2) retrospectively, reviewed images from both modalities independently. They defined the type of lesions, identified which direction the lesion showed the closest distance to the specimen margin and measured that distance. All results were compared to the final histopathology assessments.

Results

For FFDM, correct margin direction was identified in 45 cases (44%) by R1 and in 37 cases (36%) by R2. For DBT, 69 cases (68%) were correctly identified by R1 and 70 cases (69%) by R2. The average accuracy was 40% for FFDM and 69% for DBT, the difference was statistically significant (p < 0.0001). For all cases where orientation was correctly detected, FFDM reached an average accuracy of 73% and 77% for DBT in terms of correct margin status detection. The average sensitivity was significantly better for DBT (77%) versus 62% for FFDM.

5

Conclusion

DBT showed significant improvement of the accuracy of specimen radiography regarding orientation of the closest margin compared to FFDM and improved sensitivity regarding identification of margin status.

Zusammenfassung

Einleitung

Die Präparateradiographie von chirurgischen Exzisionspräparaten nach bildgesteuerter Drahtmarkierung von nicht tastbaren Mamma-Karzinomen ist ein in der Routine weit akzeptiertes Vorgehen zur intraoperativen Bestimmung der Resektionsränder.

Nichtsdestotrotz ist die Korrelation von konventioneller digitaler Präparateradiographie und dem endgütigen Resektionsstatus häufig enttäuschend.

Die aktuelle Studie wurde durchgeführt, um die Möglichkeit einer Präparatedarstellung mittels digitaler Tomosynthese (DBT) und die Genauigkeit der Identifizierung der mammographischen Auffälligkeiten und des Resektionsstatus im Vergleich zur digitalen Vollfeld- Mammographie (FFDM) zu bewerten. Die histopathologischen Befunde dienten als Goldstandard.

Patient und Methoden

Nach positivem Ethikvotum wurden 102 Patientinen, die eine brusterhaltende Operation ihrer nicht tastbaren Brustläsionen erhielten, eingeschlossen. Bei allen Patienten wurde eine Ultraschall- oder Mammographie-gesteuerte Drahtmarkierung dieser Läsion durchgeführt. Nach Exzision wurde das OP-Präparat zur Orientierung markiert und eine FFDM in zwei Ebenen sowie eine DBT in einer Ebene durchgeführt. Zwei geblindete Leser (R1, R2) werteten retrospektiv die Bilder beider Modalitäten unabhängig voneinander aus. Sie definierten die Art der Läsionen, identifizierten in welcher Richtung die Läsion am dichtesten an der Präparat-Rand reicht und bestimmten hier die minimale Entfernung zwischen Läsion und Präparatrand. Alle Ergebnisse wurden mit den endgültigen histopathologischen Einschätzungen verglichen. **Ergebnisse**

In der FFDM wurde die korrekte Richtung des minimalen Randabstands in 45 Fällen (44%) durch R1 und in 37 Fällen (36%) durch R2 erkannt. In der DBT wurde dies in 69 Fällen (68%) von R1 und in 70 Fällen (69%) von R2 korrekt identifiziert. Die durchschnittliche Genauigkeit betrug 40% für die FFDM und 69% für die DBT, der Unterschied war statistisch signifikant (p <0,0001). Für alle Fälle, in denen Orientierung richtig erkannt wurde, erreichte die FFDM eine durchschnittliche Genauigkeit des gemessenen Abstands von 73%, 77% wurde für die DBT erreicht. Die durchschnittliche Sensitivität war signifikant besser für die DBT (77%) im Vergleich zu 62% für FFDM.

7

Schlussfolgerung

Die DBT zeigt eine signifikante Verbesserung der Genauigkeit der Bestimmung des minimalen Resektionsrandes in Bezug auf Orientierung und Messgenauigkeit in der Präparatradiographie im Vergleich zur FFDM.

1 Introduction

In recent years, widespread mammographic screening has yielded concomitant detection of a dramatically growing proportion of early invasive breast cancers and ductal carcinomas in situ (DCIS), with a subsequent higher percentage of patients who are candidates for breast-conserving surgery (BCS) (1). Because BCS provides a better cosmetic outcome, and generally, a better quality of life compared with mastectomy, the rate of BCS is increasing even more. When followed by radiotherapy, BCS is considered to be equally effective as radical mastectomy in treating breast cancer (2). On the other hand, an incompletely excised breast cancer has increased the risk of local recurrence (3, 4), hence the pressure on meticulous tumor excision with adequate tumor-free margin during the initial operation. Moreover, extra operations represent a substantial surgical workload as well as psychological and physical distress for patients. Therefore, radiography of the excised surgical specimen following wire-guided localization of impalpable breast lesions is now the accepted standard surgical practice in BCS (5, 6).

However, margin correlation in specimen radiography (SR) (7) with the corresponding pathology is still very disappointing; frequently, margins that look very narrow on the SR are adequate at the final histology and vice versa (8-12). In an attempt to improve these disappointing results, we proposed imaging the specimen with the recent digital breast tomosynthesis (DBT) technique.

The present study was performed to evaluate the suitability of DBT in SR and measuring its accuracy in identifying the mammographic abnormality and margins status of the specimen. Objectives of the study are discussed in details in chapter 2.

1.1 Incidence and mortality of breast cancer

The cause of more than 14,000 deaths each year, breast cancer is considered the most common malignancy in females. Breast cancer comprises 18% of all female cancers, with nearly 1 million diagnosed cases worldwide each year. Two per 1000 women in their fifties are diagnosed with breast cancer each year. This high prevalence rate has led to the need for applying widespread screening programs for breast cancer. However, these screening programs can only reduce the mortality rates but not the incidence.(13)

9

According to the recently published European guidelines clinical practice, the estimated annual incidence of breast cancer in Europe (40 countries) in 2008 was 88.4/100 000, and the mortality was 24.3/100 000. The incidence increased after the introduction of mammography screening and continues to do so with the aging of the population (14).

Moreover, the incidence rates of in situ breast cancer showed a 1.9% increase per year in the period from 1988 to 2010 in women younger than 50 (15). The widespread acceptance of mammography by patients and surgeons, as well as the endless enhancements of its technologies, allowed cancers to be diagnosed 1 to 3 years earlier in the pre-clinical stage compared with absence of screening (16). On the other hand, breast cancer death rates decreased by 34% from 1990 to 2010. This drop has been attributed to both improvements in breast cancer treatment and early detection (17, 18). According to data from the National Cancer Institute's Surveillance, Epidemiology and End Results (SEER) program (17), 61% of newly diagnosed cases are localized, i.e. confined to primary site, 32% have spread to regional lymph nodes, and 5% of cancers have metastasized. These numbers reflect the increased demands of BCS implementation in breast cancer treatment.

1.2 Histopathological considerations in breast cancer

Prior to any type of treatment, minimal invasive pathological diagnosis of breast cancer should be performed. This is conducted through obtaining core needle or fine needle biopsy either by ultrasound or by stereotactic guidance. Only in certain situations minimal invasive biopsy should be replaced with local excision biopsy. Final pathological diagnosis should follow the World Health Organization (19) pathological classification and the tumor-node-metastasis (TNM) staging system of breast cancer. The final pathology report should include histological type, grade, estrogen receptor (ER) status, progesterone receptor (PR) and human epidermal growth factor receptor 2 (HER2) expression (14). Table 1 describes breast cancer histological classification of carcinomas of the breast.

Breast cancer has a very wide range of distinct histological entities; each has different biological features and clinical behavior. Additionally, during the last several decades, there has been remarkable progress towards creating a molecular portrait of different breast tumors (20). However, traditional histopathological classification of breast cancer is based on the light microscopy characteristics of the lesion. The majority of breast cancers are derived from either the ducts epithelial lining or from the lobules. Any malignant lesion in the breast falls into one of

the two main categories: either invasive or noninvasive "in situ". Invasive ductal carcinoma–not otherwise specified (IDC, NOS) is the most common breast cancer histologic type and comprises 70% to 80% of all cases, followed by invasive lobular carcinoma (ILC) in 5% of the cases (21). Approximately one quarter of newly diagnosed breast carcinomas are ductal carcinoma in situ (DCIS) (22, 23).

Ductal carcinoma in situ is the most common noninvasive breast cancer pathology that comprises a wide variety of disease spectrums ranging from low-grade lesions to high-grade lesions. Histologically, it is characterized by intraductal proliferation of malignant epithelial cells that do not break through the limiting ductal basement membrane. DCIS is traditionally classified according to architectural pattern (solid, cribriform, papillary, and micropapillary); however, most recent modern conferences endorsed the use of cytonuclear grading alone or in combination with necrosis or cell polarization (23, 24).

The great majority of currently diagnosed DCIS cases are nonpalpable and are usually identified by detection of suspicious microcalcification on mammography. Up to 30% of all nonpalpable breast cancers detected in current screening programs are DCIS. The distribution of DCIS in the breast is typically "segmental" in distribution and not multicentric; in other words, if two apparently-separate malignant mammographic microcalcifications are noted, they do not represent two separate DCIS lesion but rather a larger tumor with mammographically undetectable tiny microcalcifications. Another important point is that up to 17% of DCIS lesions lack histologic evidence of microcalcification, which make the diagnosis much more difficult (22-24). In addition, exclusive existence of DCIS in preoperative biopsy does not exclude coexisting invasive carcinoma, which will be identified in 20% of the subsequent surgical specimen(5).

According to the most recent WHO classification of tumors of the breast (fourth edition), the terminology for the most common type of breast cancer—invasive ductal carcinoma, not otherwise specified (*IDC*, *NOS*) (2003)—has become invasive carcinoma of no special type (*NST*) (2012). However, the definition of the two is still identical except that the term "ductal" has been omitted. IDC, NOS is comprised of a heterogeneous group of tumor histologies that fail to exhibit sufficient inclusion criteria to be categorized as one of specific histological types, such as lobular, tubular, medullary, mucinous or metaplastic carcinoma. These tumors of special histological types are defined by their morphology and also are linked to particular clinical, epidemiological and molecular features (7, 23, 25).

As implied by its name, IDC, NOS has no specific macroscopic or microscopic characteristics and can vary greatly from case to case. The tumor cells may be arranged in clusters, cord or trabeculae or can be predominantly solid. In up to 80% of cases, foci of associated DCIS are additionally present; there is significant association between the grade of DCIS and the invasive ductal component in the tumors that contain both. Generally, the majority have spiculated, circumscribed or mixed contour configuration, and only a minority have indistinct borders and cannot be described in these terms (22, 23).

The other noninvasive breast carcinoma is lobular carcinoma in situ (LCIS), which is a microscopic lesion that does not form palpable tumors and is typically discovered coincidentally in biopsies for other coexisting lesions. LCIS is frequently multicentric and bilateral. Necrosis or calcifications are uncommon, and no mammographic abnormality can be recognized (22).

Invasive lobular carcinoma (ILC) is the second most common invasive breast carcinoma. It accounts for 5-15% of invasive breast tumors, with a steady increase in incidence that can be attributed to the increasing use of hormone replacement therapy (26, 27). ILC usually presents as a palpable mass that is more likely diagnosed clinically than by mammographic screening. The most common mammographic features of ILC are asymmetrical ill-defined or irregular spiculated masses. In some cases, the only obvious abnormality is asymmetrical density or architectural distortion, without a definite mass. In contrast to ductal carcinomas, calcification is uncommon and ILC exhibits a stronger trend to multicentricity, multifocality and greater frequencies of bilaterality (22, 28, 29).

Classification of breast cancer

• Ductal

- Intraductal (in situ)
- Invasive, NOS (not otherwise specified)
- Invasive with predominant intraductal component
- Comedo
- Inflammatory
- Medullary with lymphocytic infiltrate
- Mucinous (colloid)
- Papillary
- Scirrhous
- Tubular
- Other

• Lobular

- In situ
- \circ $\;$ Invasive with predominant in situ component
- Invasive
- Nipple
 - Paget disease, NOS
 - Paget disease with intraductal carcinoma
 - Paget disease with invasive ductal carcinoma

• Other

• Undifferentiated carcinoma

 Table 1: Classification of Breast Cancer (30).

Primary tumor (T)			
TX	Primary tumor cannot be assessed.		
ТО	No evidence of primary tumor.		
Tis	Carcinoma in situ.		
Tis (DCIS)	DCIS		
Tis (LCIS)	LCIS.		
Tis (Paget)	Paget disease NOT associated with invasive carcinoma and/or carcinoma in situ (DCIS		
	and/or LCIS). Carcinomas associated with Paget disease are categorized based on the size		
	and characteristics of the parenchymal disease		
T1	Tumor ≤20 mm in greatest dimension.		
T1mi	Tumor ≤ 1 mm in greatest dimension.		
T1a	Tumor >1 mm but \leq 5 mm in greatest dimension.		
T1b	Tumor >5 mm but ≤ 10 mm in greatest dimension.		
T1c	Tumor >10 mm but \leq 20 mm in greatest dimension.		
T2	Tumor >20 mm but \leq 50 mm in greatest dimension.		
Т3	Tumor >50 mm in greatest dimension.		
T4	Tumor of any size with direct extension to the chest wall and/or to the skin		
T4a	Extension to the chest wall, not including only pectoralis muscle adherence/invasion.		
T4b	Ulceration and/or ipsilateral satellite nodules and/or edema which do not meet the criteria		
	for inflammatory carcinoma.		
T4c	Both T4a and T4b.		
T4d	Inflammatory carcinoma		
Regional ly	mpn nodes (N) "Clinical"		
NX	Regional lymph nodes cannot be assessed (e.g., previously removed).		
N0	No regional lymph node metastases.		
N1	Metastases to movable ipsilateral level I, II axillary lymph node(s).		
N2	Metastases in ipsilateral level I, II axillary lymph nodes that are clinically fixed or matted.		
	OR Metastases in clinically detected ipsilateral internal mammary nodes in the <i>absence</i> of		
	clinically evident axillary lymph node metastases.		
N2a	Metastases in ipsilateral level I, II axillary lymph nodes fixed to one another (matted) or to		
	other structures.		
N2b	Metastases only in clinically detected ipsilateral internal mammary nodes and in		
	the <i>absence</i> of clinically evident level I. II axillary lymph node metastases.		
N3	Metastases in ipsilateral infractavicular (level III axillary) lymph node(s) with or without		
	level I, II axillary lymph node involvement.		
	OR Metastases in clinically detected ipsilateral internal mammary lymph node(s) with		
	clinically evident level I. II axillary lymph node metastases.		
	OR Metastases in ipsilateral supraclavicular lymph node(s) with or without axillary or		
	internal mammary lymph node involvement.		
N3a	Metastases in insilateral infractavicular lymph node(s)		
N3b	Metastases in insilateral internal mammary lymph node(s) and avillary lymph node(s)		
N3c	Metastases in insilateral subraclavicular lymph node(s)		
Distant me	tastases (M)		
M0	No aliniasi or radiographia avidance of distant materiases		
M1	Distant detectable materiases as determined by classic clinical and radiographic materia		
1111	Distant detectable metastases as determined by classic clinical and radiographic means		
	and/or mistologically proven >0.2 mm.		

Table 2: TNM Classification of Breast Cancer (30)

1.3 Radiological diagnosis of breast cancer:

A diagnosis of breast cancer is based on clinical examination and breast imaging, and is confirmed by pathological evaluation of the suspicious breast lesion. Several breast imaging modalities can be used to reach the final diagnosis; this includes full-field digital mammography (FFDM), breast ultrasonography (US), magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) and the recently introduced digital breast tomosynthesis (DBT).

1.3.1 Full Field Digital Mammography (FFDM)

Full field digital mammography is considered the most common and is the cornerstone imaging modality performed for early breast cancer detection. It is now the most accepted single test for breast cancer screening. After the widespread introduction of mammography screening programs, several studies showed a one-third decrease in mortality rates due to breast cancer (31, 32), and early detection of breast cancer also opens the door to a greater range of treatment options, including breast-conserving surgery and neoadjuvant chemotherapy (16). According to the European guidelines, population-based breast screening should be conducted on women aged 50-69, who should undergo a mammogram every two years (33). The guideline differs, however, for screening women who are at high risk due to hereditary or genetic factors, where special screening services are offered. These may include additional imaging modalities or modified screening intervals.

Mammography not only plays the cardinal role in breast cancer screening, but it also serves as the backbone of evaluation of patients with breast symptoms. In a study by Berg. (34), the diagnostic accuracy of using mammography alone for breast cancer detection reaches 70%, which is nearly the same if mammography is combined with clinical examination and breast MRI. However, the sensitivity shows great variability, being dependent on factors such as breast parenchymal density and the tumor type. The sensitivity of mammography ranges from 45% in extremely dense breasts to 100% in fatty breasts, where the sensitivity proved to be inversely related to the breast density (19, 34).

In addition, the sensitivity of mammography is greatly dependent on the tumor type. The sensitivity is worst for those of lobular origin, particularly in denser breasts. Invasive lobular carcinoma tends to be mammographically occult or subtle or even not visible at all. However, since it is the most accessible and the cheapest breast imaging modality, it is still the justified cornerstone modality for nationwide cancer screening programs, symptomatic breast lesion

evaluation and post-treatment follow-up. Additional modalities may be considered supplements to but not replacements for mammography (34).

1.3.2 Breast Ultrasonography (US)

Ultrasound is an extremely helpful tool for the detection and delineation of breast lesions, in addition to its added value in image-guided biopsy of breast lesions. It is well tolerated in women besides it does not expose patients to radiation hazards, nor does it require administration of intravenous contrast material. Again, according to the European guidelines on breast imaging, ultrasound should be carried out if clinical mass is palpable, even if the mammography is negative (33).

The addition of ultrasound to screening examinations significantly increases the detection of small and/or nonpalpable cancers, which subsequently can alter the surgical approach or necessitate wider excision. In various studies, considerable percentages (30% - 48%) of examined breasts had additional mammographically occult tumors depicted by ultrasound that were unsuspected at mammography (34, 35). Combining mammography and ultrasound, therefore, has a significantly higher sensitivity (91% - 97%) than does mammography alone (19, 34). This combination overcomes the problem of lesion obscuration by overlapping breast tissue in mammography. However, the overall accuracy of using ultrasonography alone is not higher than the accuracy of mammography alone.

Unlike mammography, the sensitivity of ultrasound is not affected by breast density. In denser breasts, ultrasonography even shows better sensitivity than mammography for detecting invasive breast cancer and is particularly high in cases of invasive lobular carcinoma: 86%, versus 34% using mammography. However, the use of ultrasonography in evaluation of morphology and extent of DCIS was discouraged and is only reserved for guidance of biopsy due to the acoustic speckle artifact, which may hinder identification of microcalcification (34).

Unfortunately, ultrasonography has a substantially high risk of false positive findings, which may lead to unnecessary biopsies for benign lesions. The technique is also limited by time-consuming and inter-operative user variability (36).

1.3.3 Magnetic Resonance Imaging (MRI)

The proven relationship between decreased mammographic sensitivity and increased breast density has highlighted the need for a supplementary imaging tool in screenings using either US or MRI, which are not affected by breast density (34). Standard breast MRI examination is based on an injection of intravenous contrast material, which allows for better detailed visualization of the breast tissue and more precise description of the morphologic and kinetic features of the

breast lesion, especially the pattern and intensity of lesion enhancement, where different patterns of enhancement have a specific meaning. Criteria such as low signal intensity, internal septa and lack of lesion enhancement have high negative predictive values for malignancy (98%, 96% respectively). Also, features like rim enhancement, heterogeneous internal enhancement, enhanced internal septa and focal perilesional edema highly correlate with malignancy (37).

MRI imaging of the breast is not routinely performed and is only considered in certain situations and in selected groups of cancer patients, such as for screening of high-risk women with strong family history and/or BRCA1 or BRCA 2 gene mutation carriers, for lobular carcinoma, for suspicion of multifocal/multicentric lesions, for patients receiving neoadjuvant chemotherapy or for patients with inconclusive findings on mammography (38).

The combination of mammography plus clinical examination and MRI shows the highest sensitivity among all individual breast imaging modalities or combinations reaching up to 99.4%. Furthermore, MRI shows a higher sensitivity than mammography to all tumor types and a more accurate estimation of the IDC and ILC extent, which, when combined with mammography, left no chance for extent underestimation yet includes unavoidable overestimation (34).

On the other hand, the cost of the high sensitivity of MRI is the relatively high number of false positive findings. Up to 28% of lesions were indicated as false positive in a met-analysis performed by Peters et al. (39). Considering these limitations, MRI is proposed as complementary to, but not as a replacement for, mammography. It has not been proven to be advantageous or cost-effective if performed in the general breast cancer population (16, 34, 38, 40).

1.3.4 Digital Breast Tomosynthesis (DBT)

Digital breast tomosynthesis is actually considered an extension or technology update of conventional mammography, as it basically utilizes X-rays to obtain three-dimensional images of breast tissue (41-43).

Until now, both analog and digital mammography suffer from low accuracies, with reported sensitivities ranges from 36% - 70%, depending on breast tissue density and up to 10% recall rates; this is far higher than the recommended rates of the national guidelines (44, 45). Breast tissue overlapping, especially in denser breast, is the cardinal cause of missing breast cancer during mammographic examination. Breast tissue overlapping can greatly reduce lesion

conspicuity and can conceal or obscure the most important features of malignancy, especially the tumor margin perception. Additionally, with estimates that up to 50% of women undergoing mammography will have high breast density, a recent study stated that breast density may be associated with more aggressive cancers not only because of the masking factor but even as an independent risk factor (46, 47).

To overcome the inherent limitations of mammography, a digital breast tomosynthesis (DBT) system was designed. The x-ray tube moves in an arc over the breast and with each move, low dose projection images are taken (figure 1). The data collected from these images then is reconstructed using several algorithms similar to those used for computed tomography in order to create thin cross-section images through the breast tissue. Digital tomosynthesis functions by using a conventional x-ray source and a digital detector to create thin 1mm cross-sectional images or "slices" of a specific volume of tissue in sharp focus. Tissue above and below these planes are out of focus. These 1-mm slices effectively eliminate the confusion caused by tissue overlapping (43).

The tube movement can be either continuous or step-and-shot motion. In "continuous" motion, the tube moves continuously during the scan while X-ray pulses are fired. In the stepand-shot motion, the tube pauses at each location, firing the X-ray pulse and then moving to the next plane. Theoretically, the latter approach reduces motion blur but increases the length of the scan (42). Typically, exposures are taken with the tube at different angles to the tissue plane. In DBT, all anatomical details that are projected onto two-dimensional images in conventional mammography are instead projected separately into different tissue planes in tomosynthesis. This may be of great value for heterogeneously dense or extremely dense breasts (43).

Plentiful studies were performed in the past decade to uncover various aspects of implementation of the new technique in different situations of breast imaging. Many studies discussed the benefit of using DBT in breast cancer screening and/or diagnostic settings using either one or two views (48-53). Other studies were interested in the accuracy of DBT in estimating the extent of the disease detecting calcification in comparison with digital mammography (54-61). Others were directed at assessing the radiologist performance using both modalities (62-64). Early data from most of these studies have shown that the use of DBT can improve the accuracy of screening and diagnostic breast imaging (50, 52, 62) with significantly higher sensitivity (49, 65). Furthermore, reductions in false positive recall rates were significantly higher when using DBT. Reductions ranging from 15% - 40% have been reported

(51-53, 62), especially in denser breasts (51). In addition, the ability to separate overlapping tissue improves lesion conspicuity, lesion characterization and margin delineation (55, 61).



Figure 1: shows how DBT images are obtained

1.4 Surgical treatment for breast cancer

Treatment of breast cancer is a complex patient-surgeon decision-making process. Several factors should be taken into consideration during this process, including, but not limited to: tumor stage, extent and location of the tumor (size, multicentric/multifocal, nodal involvement), biological characteristics, patient age and personal preference (14). All patients with breast cancer, regardless of presence or absence of distant metastasis, will have some types of surgery (breast conservative surgery (BCS) or mastectomy), and most of them will receive some form of adjuvant treatment, either chemotherapy, radiotherapy, hormonal therapy or other treatments (33).

With very few absolute contraindications for breast conservative surgery, such as multicentricity (66), and also given the higher proportion of early breast cancer detection, currently up to 80% of the newly diagnosed cancers in Western Europe are manageable with breast conserving surgery (14). In breast conservative surgery, the tumor and a rim of normal tissue are removed. It has been proven through years of studies that BCS followed by radiotherapy, for appropriately selected patients, has overall survival and disease-free survival rates similar to that of mastectomy, and in addition it achieves acceptable postoperative cosmetic results (2, 67). Patients undergoing BCS should have no evidence of microscopic malignant tumors in the radial margins around the boundaries of the resected tumor, or in other words, negative margins at the specimen edge (5, 6, 14). However, the width of the margins required for justify the success of BCS is still a matter of debate (6, 68, 69). A margin of at least 1-2 mm was adequate for most radiation oncologists. While wider margins were acceptable to surgeons, beating in mind that this also could result in a minimal negative effect on cosmetic results (70).

In cases where there is presence of involved radial margins, either with invasive carcinoma or DCIS, mastectomy should be performed after repeated resections (14, 66). Simple mastectomy includes removal of the entire breast. Radical mastectomy includes removal of axillary lymph nodes and underlying chest muscles in addition to the entire breast. This was greatly replaced with modified radical mastectomy in which no removal of chest wall occurs (16).

The ultimate goal of any breast cancer surgery is to completely remove the cancer from the breast and to minimize the number of operations that are carried out, with the least possible disfigurement (5, 6). To ensure accomplishment of these goals, variable preoperative and/or

intraoperative measures might be taken, depending on the situation (71). One of these is preoperative wire-guided lesion localization. Preoperative ultrasonography- or mammography-guided wire localization is mandatory for patients who decide to undergo BCS for clinically occult breast lesion. This procedure involves positioning flexible wire within no more than 10 mm of the lesion in any plane (5, 72). According to German Society of Senology guidelines for the diagnosis, treatment and follow-up of breast cancer (73), preoperative localization should be done for non-palpable lesions. Adequate lesion resection should be confirmed by intraoperative specimen imaging. Reported clear margins obtained with wire localization ranged from 71% to 87% (74, 75). Other intraoperative techniques, including radioguided surgery, shaved margins technique, intraoperative ultrasound-guided resection, ink-directed focal re-excision and SR, are also aimed at enhancing margin clearance (71).

1.5 Specimen Radiography (SR)

The greatest limitation of BCS is that it may leave the patient with an increased lifelong risk of local recurrence if tumor-free margins are not achieved during the operation. The ultimate goal is to achieve local control and survival rates similar to those for mastectomy, while providing improved cosmetic and functional results (2, 3).

Due to the fact that permanent section histopathology (HP)—which is the gold standard for assessing margins—cannot be carried out in the operating theater, different methods, such as SR and frozen section histopathology were proposed, to be performed intraoperatively in order to confirm the completeness of the tumor excision and to evaluate the margin status. Application of frozen section histopathology is not routine as it has technical limitations, is time consuming and is unlikely to offer a realistic answer (76). By contrast, SR is relatively easy, fast and readily available; therefore, it emerges as an accepted surrogate technique that is used to examine margins while the patient is still in the operating room, while guaranteeing an optimal cosmetic outcome (12, 77). It is fundamental to assess the resection margins to prevent the risk of reoperation and/or local recurrence.

Routine SR technique is performed as follows: following wire-guided localization of the lesion, surgical wide local excision is performed. Before the surgeon completes the operation, the excised surgical specimen is marked for orientation by placing clips or markers at specific sites on the excised specimen, which is then sent to the radiology department for imaging. The specimen is imaged with the mammography unit in two orthogonal views perpendicular to each other (78).

SR is conducted to determine whether the targeted lesion has been successfully removed or not and to indicate the positive margins requiring further excision of tissue during the same operation. Therefore, the radiologist evaluating the specimen radiographs is expected to draw the surgeon a configuration map of the tumor and give him details as to whether the lesion is contained within the specimen or further excision is necessary, and if so, in which direction. Generally, the appearance of the lesion should be stated and the distance from the mammographic abnormality to each radial margin of the specimen should be measured, drawing special attention to the closest margin where the lesion is located most closely to the margin specimen. This approach significantly reduces the volume of the excised breast tissue. (10). However, the techniquehas limitations, such as inability to detect small non-calcified tumors or the possibility of margin distortion due to the fatty nature of the breast tissue. The sensitivity of SR for margin correlation with that of the corresponding permanent pathology ranges from 30% to 68% (8-11). This is still disappointing, and frequently margins that look very close on the SR are adequate at final histology and vice versa.

2 Objectives

The ultimate aim of breast conserving surgery is complete excision of the tumor with negative resection margin, as the risk of local recurrence is directly related to a positive resection margin (4). This should be achieved while maintaining an acceptable cosmetic result.

Until now, it has been difficult to completely remove the breast tumor in the course of the first excision during the set of breast conservative surgery, with high re-excision rates ranging from 20% - 60% in different studies (79-83). This additional resection may postpone the beginning of adjuvant chemotherapy or radiotherapy and moreover, additional surgery increases morbidity, patient anxiety, wound infection rates, and leads to poor cosmetic results. Furthermore, the volume of the resected breast tissue is, in general, greater with a second surgery for re-excision than with a single adequate primary excision of tumor mass (84).

Therefore, different intraoperative techniques have been considered for margin analysis in order to spare the time and effort of extending margin resection in the same operative setting and to minimize the problem of re-operation. Marked variation is still present between different institutes worldwide in the use of intra-operative margin assessment techniques and recommendations for re-excision, and although the status of surgical margin has been acknowledged to be a pivotal and crucial factor of BCS, the best assessment technique has yet to be determined (76). Surgical cavity shaving, gross pathological evaluation with or without frozen section analysis, touch imprint cytology, intraoperative ultrasonography and mammographic SR are all well-known techniques that have been employed in attempts to ensure complete tumor excision and tumor-free margins, with varying degree of success (71). SR is one of the most popular techniques for margin analysis; this is now performed by default in the breast surgery non-palpable breast lesions (8). However, margin correlation of SR and the corresponding permanent pathology is still very disappointing, and frequently margins that look very close on the SR are adequate at final histology and vice versa (8-12)

Optimizing the current SR technique is therefore crucial. We tried to do this by using the newly evolved digital breast tomosynthesis modality, which allows satisfactory separation of the overlapping breast tissue with subsequently superior tumor conspicuity and lesion margin identification, as well as allowing enhanced detection of subtle architecture distortions.

24

The aim of this study is to evaluate DBT-based SR (DBT specimen) in comparison to full field digital mammography based SR (FFDM specimen) in breast cancer patients, taking into account of different cancer histologies. The aim is to address the following questions:

- 1. To what extent can DBT specimen identify originally detected mammography lesions? Is it equivalent to FFDM specimen in terms of lesion perception and identification?
- 2. How accurate is DBT specimen in comparison to FFDM specimen in the assessment of intra-operative resection margin status? Does DBT tend to have a stronger therapeutic impact than FFDM specimen in terms of the number of cases in which initially positive margins were rendered negative margin thanks to DBT specimen?
- 3. Does the accuracy for both FFDM specimen and DBT specimen differ for distinct histologies? Does it demonstrate better results in certain tumor groups than in others?
- 4. How far is the correlation of directional information from FFDM specimen, DBT specimen and histology, regardless of the margin status?
- 5. Are there differences in margin measurements (tumor to the resection) between FFDM specimen, DBT specimen and histology? How well correlated are these measurements to each other? Are there, for example, tendencies to realize that larger distances are measured in one subject area (tumor type or lesion type) than in the other?

3 Patient and methods

3.1 Study design

This retrospective study was approved by the local ethics committee of Charité Berlin. All patients with biopsy-proven non-palpable breast cancer who underwent wire localization prior to breast conserving surgery between January 2010 and December 2012 were included in the study. All patients agreed to the scientific use of the image data.

Digital mammography and digital breast tomosynthesis were used to image the excised surgical specimen at the time of the operation. Both imaging examinations modalities were then retrospectively evaluated after the clinical management by two radiologists at the Department of Radiology, Charité Universitätsmedizin Berlin, with ten and five years of experience in mammography imaging. The reading results of the radiologists were compared with the histopathological findings of the specimen, which were carried out by the Institute of Pathology, Charité Universitätsmedizin Berlin. The histopathological findings were considered to be the gold standard.

3.2 Patients population

The following variables were extracted from the patients' medical reports and listed in an Excel file (Microsoft, Redmond, WA, USA): patient characteristics (age, family history, previous breast operations); methods used to diagnose and localize the lesion for excision; therapeutic procedures in detail; and clinical and pathological features.

Exclusion criteria:

- Patients who underwent previous surgical interventions as postoperative scarring and distortions can be easily mistaken for cancers.
- Patients who underwent vacuum-assisted biopsy, as a larger volume of tissue is required to be removed for accurate diagnosis.
- Benign lesions were not included, as no margin reporting by pathology was available.
- We excluded patients with more than one wire-localized breast lesion seen within one-breast specimens, as the radiological-pathological correlation might be difficult.

3.3 Surgical procedure

Patients who had biopsy-proven breast cancer underwent either two-view mammography or ultrasonography wire localization prior to the planned therapeutic surgical excision. Our institution's protocol for impalpable lesions before excision was as follows: following insertion of a localizing wire under sonographical or radiological guidance, two orthogonal mammography views were performed to show the position of the wire in relation to the mammographic abnormality. The wire should penetrate the lesion and not overpass the lesion by more than 1 cm. If the wire does not penetrate the lesion, it should be placed within maximum 10 mm to the index lesion in any plane.

Following lesion localization, surgical wide local excision was performed. The specimen was orientated in theatre, 3 clips were placed (1 clip in the cranial resection margin and 2 clips in the lateral resection margins) and a non-clipped suture was made on the ventral surface. Then the specimen was transferred to the Breast Unit for specimen radiography.

The routine surgical strategy used at our hospital in order to obtain free tumor margins is as follows: when invasive cancer without evidence of DCIS is present, additional excision during the primary surgery is performed if a margin ≤ 1 mm is measured; an optional extension is indicated for margins ≤ 5 mm (following intraoperative discussion with the surgeon). When there is evidence of DCIS, additional excision is mandatory for margins ≤ 5 mm and optional for margins ≤ 10 mm accordingly to the S3-guidelines of treatment of breast cancer (73)

Whenever the lesion was present and located centrally in the specimen, the surgeon was informed he or she could terminate the procedure; when the lesion was found to be close to a certain resection margin, the surgeon was told the direction in which to extend the excision, and further tissue is removed in this direction before the procedure is considered complete.

3.4 Imaging protocol

All imaging procedures have been performed on the same digital platform, a MAMMOMAT Inspiration mammography system with tomosynthesis option (Siemens Healthcare, Erlangen, Germany).

After receiving the specimen from the surgeon, first, the surgical specimen was positioned on the mammography plate and oriented as for the (first view), and it was then rotated 90° laterally to obtain the (second view). In the second view, the single cranial clip was imaged enface within the specimen, as shown in figure 2. With the wire still left in place, the specimen was examined

radiologically without compression but somewhat flattened to equalize the tissue in a magnification view of factor 1.7.

Images were then acquired with standard tomosynthesis acquisition techniques in view similar to the mammographic 1st view again, which generated 25 low-dose projection images or frames over 50 degree arc. These 25 RAW images were reconstructed into a series of 1–mm-thick images at 1 mm intervals, spanning the entire specimen tissue thickness and resulting in a set of 20–50 parallel slices, depending on the thickness of the excised tissue. The images were acquired with no compression but, again, with slightly flattened breast tissue. After radiography, the surgical specimen was sent to the pathologist for histological assessment.

3.5 Histopathology workup and analysis

Each surgical specimen, including any extra tissue that had been secondarily excised during the operation, underwent postoperative pathologic workup, which included estimates of size, grade and type of tumor present. Additionally, the minimal distance (in mm) from the tumor to the resection margins in all directions (Anterior, Posterior, Medial, Lateral, Superior, and Inferior) was reported. In case an intraoperative secondary excision was performed on the recommendation of the radiologist, the number and directions of the secondary excision was stated in the operation report. The final minimal radial margins were recorded twice in the pathology reports, as follows. The second recording was made after including the secondary excised tissue in the corresponding direction. Our institution's target is a final histological tumor-free radial margin of 5mm or greater for ductal carcinoma in situ (DCIS) and 1 mm or greater for invasive cancers.

Pathological information was obtained from the medical records retrospectively. We reviewed the histopathological findings of each of the specimens and remarked on the presence of invasive and/or in situ carcinoma.

3.6 Image review

All specimen radiographs were anonymized and sent to a dedicated reading workstation (Mammoreport, Siemens Healthcare, Erlangen, Germany) with two 5 MP portrait monitors for viewing the two-dimensional digital mammography images and developed specifically for the review of the three-dimensional digital tomosynthesis images. Two board-certified readers (R1, R2) who specialized in breast imaging analyzed them retrospectively. The radiologists were blinded to patient and tumor information, such as staging or kind of the breast cancer; however, they knew that all specimen radiographs showed a malignancy. Reviewing was performed after

clinical management. Existing preoperative or postoperative radiographic findings were not allowed to be used in the assessment so readers were instructed to assume that the reading was the initial specimen examination.

The readers analyzed the FFDM specimen and the DBT specimen in a randomized order. The predetermined minimum period between the FFDM specimen and the DBT specimen reading was 30 days in order to reduce potential bias due to readers' short-term memory. With each mode, the radiologists typically completed the viewing and rating of images from the examinations in three to four separate reading sessions.

The readers were allowed to magnify the images. The tomosynthesis images could be sequentially displayed as a continuous cine loop or one image at a time, controlled manually at the reader's discretion and preferred image display rate. All display and rating functions were mouse driven. The reviewers were given unlimited time to page back and forth through the tomosynthesis images and to review the mammography images. No comparison examinations or other clinical information about the patient was provided.

Radiologists were asked to independently review and rate the images from each examination (FFDM specimen & DBT specimen) for the presence or absence of the lesion within the specimen. A subjective assessment was carried out to rate how well the lesion was seen with each modality by evaluating the sharpness, contrast and diagnostic image quality. The conspicuity with which the lesion was seen was assessed with a 4-step scale:

- 1 = no visible finding,
- 2 = poor conspicuity,
- 3 =intermediate conspicuity,
- 4 =good conspicuity.

Conspicuity was defined as the combination of the confidence in the presence of a given lesion with the confidence in decision making based on lesion detectability.

After conspicuity assessment, the categories used to describe the mammomagraphic/ tomosynthesis abnormality were those generally accepted, such as mass (M), architectural distortion (AD), clustered calcifications (Ca++) or combinations of these. If abnormalities were identified, the location, the number of lesions and the size of each were measured. The reviewers were allowed to mark multiple lesions if present and could make individual rating for each lesion in the same examination as deemed appropriate. Size on tomosynthesis images was measured on the section with the longest tumor extension. Tumor size in mammography images was measured on both views and the longest measurement of both was considered to be the reference. The longest axis of the lesion was measured to the nearest millimeter. In patients with suspicious calcifications only, the greatest extent of the microcalcifications was measured. Measurement was done using a built-in software tool.

Finally, resected margins were examined for proximity to the tumor (Figure 2). Whenever possible, an estimate was made as to whether the lesion was closest to the resection margin in a specific direction (medial, lateral, superior, inferior, anterior or posterior). Guided by the approved standards of clips positioning as landmarks, the radial margins in superior, inferior, medial and lateral directions were readily visible in the first view of the FFDM specimen. Anterior, posterior, medial and lateral directions could be judged in the second view of the FFDM specimen. This is illustrated in figure 3. In DBT specimen, the resection margins could be judged in all directions (superior, inferior, medial and lateral) in the same manner as in the first view FFDM specimen. The anterior and posterior margins were judged by number of slices, in the corresponding direction, in which the resected tissue shows no further evidence of any tumor extension.

The parameters considered in the radiological reports were:

- Presence/absence of the lesion.
- Lesion description (Mass, AD, Ca++ or combination).
- Conspicuity of the lesion.
- Size of the lesion.
- Direction in which to extend the excision in the case of close margins.



Figure 2: Diagram of specimen with 3 clips placed for orientation and dotted red line indicating the closest margin (i.e., the shortest distance between the lesion and specimen edge).



Figure 3: Diagram shows the four radial directions in the 2 views FFDM specimen.

3.7 Data analysis

The gold standard for complete removal of the index lesion with clear resection margins is the histologic confirmation determined by pathologists. The margin was titled as "clear" (sufficient) if > 1 mm (invasive tumor) or > 5 mm (DCIS present) is measured between the lesion and the far end of the resection margins. Radiographic findings from both modalities (size of the lesion, direction of the closest resected margin and its measured distance) were correlated to the final comprehensive histological specimen analysis. Four data sets were created from the imaging, two readings for each modality. Each set was analyzed and correlated independently with the final postoperative histopathological details. Additionally, we split the data according to the histological tumor type into three groups: purely invasive, invasive with DCIS and DCIS group. This was intended to evaluate the influence of cancer type on margin analysis.

3.8 Statistical analysis

The significance level was defined as p < 0.05. The tests were run with R Development Core Team 2008 (version 3.2.0 (2015-04-16), Vienna, Austria). Diagnostic accuracy, sensitivity, specificity, and the negative and positive predictive values were calculated for all tumors and for each tumor subgroups.

For each reader and each modality, the data were tabulated separately and anonymously. Each value recorded by the reader, including visibility degree, type and size of the lesion, and the smallest distance from the lesion to the resection margin with indication of its direction, was plotted on Excel sheets.

A Cohen's kappa test was performed to compare the position of closest margin, as indicated by readers to that in the final pathology reports. Wilcoxon signed rank test and Bland-Altman analysis were used to test the margin measurement correlation between each modality and the histopathological measurement.

4 Results

4.1 Case characteristics

Between January 2010 and December 2012, 182 patients underwent SR during their breast conservative surgery. Eighty patients were excluded from the study due to the presence of one or more exclusion criteria: 31 patients underwent preoperative vacuum assisted biopsy with completely removed visible tumor, 15 patients had more than one lesion and subsequently marked with more than 1 guided wire, 5 had no localizing marks, 28 specimens were poorly positioned or had technical artifacts in either modality and 1 case had a previous operation. Therefore, the final study population consisted of 102 patients with histologically-proven malignant breast lesions that were removed in a setting of breast conservative surgery. The average age of the patient at the time of surgery was 61 years (range 42 - 85 years).

4.1.1 Histopathology characteristics

The distribution of the histopathological findings is given in table 3. The final histopathological findings of the 102 specimens' margins are shown in table 4. Thirty-three cases were primarily resected with tumor-free margins "Clear" (\geq 1mm for purely invasive lesions, \geq 5 mm in case of DCIS), hence, there should have been no further need to re-resection in the same operation not in another operation. Sixty-nine were primarily resected with positive tumor margins "involved" (\leq 1mm for purely invasive lesions, \leq 5 mm in case of DCIS) and subsequently should have had re-resection in the same operation or in a second operation. Cases associated with DCIS had significantly less tumor-free margins than pure invasive cancer.

4.1.2 Radiographic appearance

4.1.2.1 Lesion type

In table 5, the radiographic appearance is given for each reader by modality. In some cases, the readers could not detect the lesion in the specimen in one modality although it was detected in the other one; however, there was no single specimen where the lesion could not be detected by either modality or readers. In other words, all lesions were visible at least once to each reader by one of the two modalities. The overall accuracy for lesion detection by DBT specimen and FFDM specimen for both readers was: R1 94%, R2 95%, R1 99%, R2 98%, respectively. However with DBT specimen, the confidence in describing the lesion as a mass rather than AD was higher than in FFDM specimen (30, 31 masses in FFDM specimen versus 41, 42 masses in

Tumor types	Total number (%)
IDC	19 (19)
ILC	4 (4)
DCIS	16 (16)
IDC+DCIS	50 (50)
IDC+ LIN	2 (2)
ILC+DCIS	1 (1)
ILC+LIN	4 (4)
Others	6 (6)
Mucinous	2
Metaplastic	1
Apokrine + CIS	1
Medullaris	1
Ductal and Lobular	1

DBT specimen for R1 and R2 respectively). Table 5 includes the types of lesions as shown by each modality.

Table 3: The distribution of the histopathological findings in 102 cases.

Margin status	Clear margin	Involved margin
DCIS (16)	1	15
Pure invasive Ca (26)	20	6
Invasive + in situ cancers (60)	12	48

 Table 4: Margin status of the 102 specimens after primary resection based on the final histopathological analysis.
Lesion type	FFDM specimen		DBT speci	men
	R1	R2	R1	R2
Ca++	30	28	26	24
M / (M+AD)	32	35	43	42
AD	20	8	10	10
AD + Ca ++	7	13	6	6
M + Ca++	12	16	11	15
Nothing	1	2	6	5

Table 5: The distribution of visibly determined mammographic abnormalities by each modality.

4.1.2.2 Lesion visibility

The overall lesion visibility is still low in both modalities; on average, 35% and 38% of the lesions were rated as having poor visibility by the two readers in the FFDM-specimen and DBT-specimen, respectively. However, this was not the case if compared with different type of lesions. For example, calcification alone accounts for 43% of the total lesions with good visibility in FFDM specimen, whereas this was only 24% in DBT specimen. On the other hand, masses account for 50% of the total lesions with good visibility in DBT specimen, versus 31% in FFDM specimen.

	FFDM specimen		DBT specimen	
	R1	R2	R1	R2
Good	41	50	43	33
Intermediate	28	14	26	23
Poor	32	36	27	41
Non visible	1	2	6	5

Table 6: The rated lesion visibility in both modalities by the two readers.

4.2 Analysis of the direction of the nearest margin

4.2.1 The accuracy of correct direction detection in correlation to tumor sub-groups

In order to compare the histological and radiological directional data, the accuracies were calculated for all tumors collectively as well as for each tumor subgroup and for each lesion type. The total number of cases with correct direction detection—compared to the final nearest histological margin—for each reader using both modalities (FFDM specimen, DBT specimen) is: out of 102 cases, Reader 1 detected the indicated direction of the nearest margin correctly in 45 cases in FFDM specimen versus 69 cases in the DBT specimen. Reader 2 detected the indicated direction of the nearest margin correctly in 37 cases in the FFDM specimen versus 70 cases in the DBT specimen. FFDM specimen accuracy for correct direction detection was 44% for R1 and 36% for R2. For the DBT specimen, the accuracy was 68% and 69% for R1 and R2, respectively (see table 7). A significant difference was found between the percentage of correct values reported by DBT and FFDM: P-value <0.001 for R1 and <0,001 for R2.

Looking at subgroups, in FFDM specimen the mean accuracy was highest (52%) for lesions with solely invasive components. In DBT specimen, the mean accuracy was highest (72%) for lesions with both invasive and DCIS components. Individual accuracies for all tumors and each tumor type are shown in table 7. In general, the accuracies for correct direction detection were significantly better for DBT specimen than that for FFDM specimen for both readers and for all tumor types except in one case. The accuracy was not significantly better for FFDM specimen over DBT specimen for R1 in pure invasive category. It was 62% and 58% for FFDM specimen and DBT specimen respectively.

	FFDM specimen		DBT specimen	
	R1	R2	R1	R2
All tumors	44%	36%	68%	69%
DCIS	38%	38%	63%	75%
Pure invasive Ca	62%	42%	58%	62%
Invasive + DCIS	38%	33%	73%	70%

Table 7: Accuracy of identification of the direction of the closest margin by reader and modality

 for all breast cancers and cancer subgroups

4.2.2 The accuracy of correct direction detection in correlation to lesion type

The best accuracy (86%) in both modalities was achieved for lesions described as mass with calcification in DBT specimen, while the worst accuracy (25%) was again for mass with calcification in FFDM specimen. Table 8 shows an overview of individual and average accuracies in relation to lesion types. The mean accuracies were significantly higher for DBT specimen for all lesion types.

4.2.3 Overall direction agreement between radiology and histopathology

As shown in table 9, there is a modest direction agreement (0.57 for both readers) between DBT specimen data for the two readers and the direction of the smallest margin reported by pathology. In contrast, agreement was fair for directional data from FFDM specimen (0.32 for R1, 0.23 for R2). Agreements were also calculated for individual tumor groups. The highest agreement using FFDM specimen was achieved for the tumor group with purely invasive components (0.54 for reader 1 and 0.31 for reader 2). The highest agreement of all for both modalities were achieved for DCIS group using DBT specimen, which was 0.63 for Reader 2 and invasive tumors with DCIS components, which was 0.63 for reader 1.

Type of lesion	FFDM specimen		DBT specimen		Mean Acc. FFDM specimen	Mean Acc. DBT specimen
	R1	R2	R1	R2		
Type(nR1/nR2)	n.(%)	n.(%)	n.(%)	n.(%)		
Ca++	11(37%)	11(39%)	15 (58%)	16 (67%)	38%	62%
M / (M+AD)	16 (50%)	17 (53%)	30 (70%)	30 (71%)	52%	71%
AD	10 (50%)	3(38%)	9 (90%)	7 (70%)	44%	80%
AD + Ca++	4 (57%)	3(23%)	5 (83%)	5 (83%)	40%	83%
M + Ca++	4 (33%)	3 (19%)	10 (91%)	12 (80%)	26%	86%

Table 8: Accuracy of correct direction detection in both modalities in relation to individual lesion sub-groups.

Tumor type	Reader	FFDM specimen	DBT specimen
		Карра	Карра
All Tumors	R1	0.32	0.57
An Tumors	R2	0.23	0.57
DCIS	R1	0.27	0.43
DCIS	R2	0.27	0.63
Pure invesive Ce	R1	0.54	0.47
Pure invasive Ca	R2	0.31	0.5
Invesive DCIS	R1	0.23	0.63
	R2	0.18	0.58

Table 9: Direction agreement between radiology and histopathology in relation to individual tumor sub-groups.

4.3 Radiological margin status in comparison to the histopathological margin status.

4.3.1 Sensitivity and specificity

The margin status interpretations as positive or negative for malignancy depend radiologically on the measurement of the smallest distance from the lesion to the specimen margin. A distance of < 1mm and < 5mm is considered positive for malignancy in invasive and DCIS lesions, respectively. Table 10 show how often the readers made the correct decision for the margin status in both modalities that either met the true negative "Clear" or true positive "Involved" margin for malignancy. We also further analyze the cases according to tumor subgroup in table 10 and type of the lesions in table 12.

	FFDM	specimen	DBT	specimen
	R1	R2	R1	R2
Involved margin				
DCIS (15)	3	4	10	11
Pure invasive Ca (6)	0	0	0	1
Invasive+ DCIS (48)	15	10	25	27
Clear margin				
DCIS (1)	1	1	0	0
Pure invasive Ca (20)	12	8	10	10
Invasive+ DCIS (12)	5	2	7	6
Total	36	25	52	55

Table 10: Number and distribution of cases with correct prediction of margin status categorized according to tumor sub-group.

If all the histologies are considered together, the mean sensitivity as a whole reaches 62% for FFDM specimen versus 77% for DBT specimen, which is statistically significantly higher (p = 0.03). Tables 11 and 13 show the sensitivities and specificities and positive and negative predictive values for all tumor subgroups and lesion types. Of the 102 specimens, the readers indicated the correct margin status as pathology for 36 (35%) and 25 (25%) cases using FFDM specimen for R1 and R2 respectively, and for 52 (51%) and 55 (54%) cases using DBT specimen for R1 and R2 respectively. The rates of lesions with correct margin status detection were statistically significantly higher for DBT specimen than that for FFDM specimen for both

readers. The p-values were 0.034 for R1 and < 0.001 for R2 by performing the two-sample test for equality of proportions.

Modality	Tumor type	Sensitivity	Specificity	PPV	NPV	Accuracy
	All cancers	62%	97%	98%	58%	73%
FFDM pure invasion for the specimen for the specimen for the specime s	DCIS	70%	100	100%	42%	75%
	Pure invasive Ca	n.a.*	96%	n.a.*	76%	61%
	Invasive + DCIS	70%	100%	100%	42%	73%
	All cancers	77%	77%	89 %	61%	77 %
DBT	DCIS	96%	n.a.*	100	n.a.*	96%
specimen	Pure invasive Ca	n.a.*	77%	n.a.*	83%	68%
	Invasive + DCIS	75%	76%	93%	44%	76%

Table 11: Sensitivity, specificity, PPV and NPP for FFDM specimen and DBT specimen for allcancers and cancer subgroups regarding margin status assessment.

* n.a. due to small number of cases after subgrouping

	FFDM s	FFDM specimen		T specimen
	R1	R2	R1	R2
Involved margin				
Ca++	6	7	12	14
M / (M+AD)	4	5	10	12
AD	4	1	3	2
AD+Ca++	1	1	2	2
M+ Ca++	3	0	8	9
Clear margin				
Ca++	2	1	2	1
M / (M+AD)	6	7	8	10
AD	6	1	3	3
AD+Ca++	3	1	2	1
M+ Ca++	1	1	2	1
Total	36	25	52	55

Table 12: Number of cases with correct prediction of margin status categorized according to lesion type.

4.3.2 Radiological margins correlation to histopathology

We calculated the limits of agreement with Bland-Altman analysis, which is used to compare measurements from two techniques or to compare new measurement technique with a gold standard, which is the histopathological measurement in our study. The mean difference between the two techniques is the "estimated bias" and limits of agreement (mean \pm 1.96 SD), including 95% of the differences that are computed to show the fluctuation of the differences around this mean. For DBT specimen, the estimated biases were 0.9 mm and 0.6 mm for R1 and R2 respectively, meaning that DBT specimen measurement was close to the histopathology measurement by overestimation of only 0.6 - 0.9 mm. These values were higher for FFDM specimen (2.8 mm for R1 and 3.5 mm for R2). Table 13 gives an overview of the 95% limits of agreements for both methods compared with the histopathology as gold standard.

A Bland-Altman plot has also been applied for subanalysis of individual tumor groups. The best margin estimation was achieved in margin measurement of the pure invasive group using the DBT specimen, which was almost equal to 0 mm. The poorest margin estimation (4.4 mm)

was for the invasive group with DCIS component using FFDM specimen. Generally, the estimated biases were lower for DBT specimen measurement than for FFDM specimen measurement, ranging from 0.6 mm margin underestimation to 1.7 mm margin overestimation by DBT, and from 1.5 mm to 4.4 mm margin overestimation by FFDM specimen.

By Wilcoxon signed rank test, as shown in table 14, the highest significance difference was noted for the two readers for FFDM specimen, whereas still significant difference was noted for one reader for DBT specimen. Grouped by tumor type, the significant difference was for the tumor the group "invasive + DCIS" in both modalities and for "purely invasive" group only in FFDM specimen.

Margin overestimation was continuously noted for both readers' measurements by both modalities and was significantly greater using FFDM specimen. P value was < 0.001 for both readers. Table 15 includes the number of cases with overestimation in each modality.



Figure 4: Bland-Altman plots showing the difference between the averages of each modality versus pathology measurements (in mm). The blue line in the middle indicates the estimated biases while the upper and lower blue lines represent the limits of agreement (mean ± 1.96 SD).

		FFDM specimen			DBT specimen		
Tumor type	Reader	2.5%	Mean(SD)	97.5%	2.5%	Mean	97.5%
		(mm)	(mm)	(mm)	(mm)	(mm)	(mm)
All tumors	R1	-2.8	2.8 (± 2.8)	8.4	-4.8	0.9 (± 2.8)	6.7
An tumors	R2	-3.8	3.5 (± 3.7)	10.9	-5.	0.6 (± 2.8)	6.4
DCIS	R1	-4.5	2.2 (± 3.3)	8.8	-4.2	-0.2 (± 2.0)	3.8
DCIS	R2	-2.6	1.5 (± 2.1)	5.6	-4.7	0.1 (± 2.4)	4.8
Pure Invasive	R1	-4.2	3.5 (± 3.8)	11.2	-6.5	-0.6 (± 2.9)	5.3
	R2	-5.8	3.1 (± 4.5)	12.2	-5.2	0 (± 2.6)	5.2
Invasive +DCIS	R1	-0.9	2.5 (± 1.7)	5.9	-3.8	1.7 (± 2.8)	7.2
	R2	-2.4	4.4 (± 3.4)	11.2	-5.1	1.1 (± 3.1)	7.2

Table 13: Limits of agreement, 2.5 and 97.5 centiles for measurement difference between each modality to pathology.

	FFDM specimen		DBT spec	eimen
	R1	R2	R1	R2
All Tumors	< 0.00001	< 0.00001	0.01	0.06
DCIS	0.17	0.2	1	1
Pure invasive	0.01	0.03	0.43	0.92
Invasive +DCIS	< 0.00001	0.0001	0.001	0.02

Table 14: P values for Wilcoxon signed rank test to compare margin measurements between

 respective imaging modalities (and each reader) and the pathology results.

	FFDM specimen		DB	T specimen
	R1	R2	R1	R2
Overestimation	39	30	38	32
Concordant	3	3	13	13
Underestimation	3	4	18	25
Total	45	37	69	70

Table 15: Concordance between respective imaging modality margin measurements and final histopathological margin measurements.

Case Examples

4.3.3 Case 1



Figure 7: Right breast FFDM specimen, first (A) and second (B) views, showing the excised illdefined mass lesion traversed by the localized wire. The closest margin seems to be more in the medial direction. (C) Selected slices DBT specimen of the same patients demonstrate better delineation of the tumor border with surrounding desmoplastic reaction. In addition, a small satellite lesion is clearly seen at the caudal edge of the specimen, proven by histopathological examination to be another IDC focus.

4.3.4 Case 2



Figure 8: FFDM Specimen, first (A) and second (B) views demonstrate the excised spiculated lesion transfixed by the localized wire. Spiculations are seen extending close to the caudal specimen margin. (C) Selected slices DBT specimen of the same patients clearly visualize the extent of tumor growth into the caudal direction of the specimen. The spicule is denser and thicker in this region with two additional tiny satellite lesions that are masked by tissue overlap in FFDM specimen.

4.3.5 Case 3



Figure 7: Left FFDM specimen, first and second view and selected slices DBT specimen. A 53years-old woman with IDC with intra- and peri-tumoral DCIS who underwent breast conservative surgery. In addition to the better demarcation of the tumor extension in the DBT specimen radiography, the tiny intratumoral microcalcifications are clearly seen at least equal or even better than in FFDM specimen.

5 Discussion

According to the European guidelines for quality assurance in breast cancer screening and diagnosis (33), SR is essential for all excised mammography-detected lesions to confirm excision before skin closure. The same was concluded in the surgical guidelines for the management of breast cancer (6).

Numerous studies examined the accuracy and sensitivity of SR using different measures and manipulation (introduction of digital imaging, use of magnification, intraoperative equipment) in order to enhance its efficacy and achieve greater reliability as an accepted method that accurately reflects the final histological margins (8, 10-12, 76-78, 85-88). However, the sensitivity of SR remains below expectations. It ranges from 30% to 75% in literature (8-11, 77) and could even decrease to 20% in one publication in which accuracies for specific tumor groups were evaluated (10). On the other hand, digital breast tomosynthesis has evolved over the past 10 years expressly either as a supplement to screening or diagnostic digital mammography with the potentiality to improve the sensitivity and specificity of mammography and also to reduce false positive recall rates (52, 62, 65, 89, 90). The continuous innovation in DBT technologies allowed better lesion characterization to improve the lesion margin visibility in comparison with digital mammography and it can, therefore, be a very effective tool in the examination of intraoperative breast specimens. We have, so far, found only few studies in the literature that discuss the possibility of using DBT in performing SR (56, 91-93). However, these studies only evaluate the accuracy of DBT for lesion detection, characterization or lesion size measurement. In our study, we attempted to evaluate SR using DBT in a more detailed way in relation to specific tumor groups, different lesion types, accuracy of orientation of the smallest margin and accuracy of margin status allocation, and performing inter-reader and intra-reader correlation as well.

Accuracy for lesion detection

In terms of lesion detection in specimen radiography, the FFDM specimen was slightly better than the DBT specimen in identifying the presence of the lesion in the specimen. The mean accuracy was 99% for FFDM specimen versus 95% for DBT specimen, which is consistent with other values reported for lesion detectability in a specimen, which ranged from 95 to 100% (8, 56, 93). In fact, all lesions in the 102 specimens were detectable and have been already detected by both the FFDM specimen and the DBT specimen, but because of the lesion characteristics or reader variability, the lesions were detectable in few occasions. As

for these lesions, we suggest that the presence of DCIS was the greatest contributor. Also, one case was invasive lobular carcinoma and another was invasive mucinous carcinoma. All types of lesions, either mass, AD or microcalcifications, were eventually visible in both forms of the SR, but to some extent with different visibility scoring or with variation in lesion description. The number of specimens, where the lesions were described as calcifications, was almost equal by both FFDM specimen and DBT specimen. However, this did not apply to their visibility scoring, whereas calcifications account for 43% of the total lesions with good visibility in FFDM specimen. On the other hand, when describing the lesion either as mass or architectural distortion, readers showed a greater tendency to describe the lesions as mass in DBT specimen than in FFDM specimen, and less tendency to describe architectural distortions than in FFDM specimen. However, the difference in proportion was non-significant for either lesion.

In terms of visibility, masses account for 50% of the good visibility lesions in the DBT specimen and for 31% of the good visibility lesions in the FFDM specimen. In other words, if DBT detected the solid lesions and provided better visualization of its margin and extensions, the readers were given more confidence to describe it as mass rather than vague AD. This was different regarding calcifications .Although the readers could detect calcifications with DBT as equal to DM, they were not as satisfied with the calcifications' clarity in DBT specimen as with FFDM specimen. These observations are consistent with results reported by other studies that masses and AD are the mammographic abnormalities benefited most from DBT, due to increased depiction and delineation of the entire lesion, compared to DM (48, 50, 94). As regards, DBT was superior to DM in delineating the whole lesion and contours in specimen with highly significant rates (45% for DBT versus 6.2% for DM) (93).

Regarding the calcifications, the tendency to underscore the degree of visibility with DBT was also reported in Poplack et al. (48) and Skanne et al. (50). Spangler et al. (59) also found that DM is slightly more sensitive for detection of calcification than DBT. However, this was not translated to significant difference in the diagnostic performance. Moreover, another study (58) reported that calcifications were seen with equal or greater clarity on DBT as on DM. The proposed explanation for the previously suggested DBT limitation with calcification is in the 1 mm slice of DBT, where only a limited amount of calcification can be demonstrated versus the more easily perceived cluster of calcifications previewed in a single conventional "summation" thicker slice of DM (Synthetic 2D) (58, 59).

Accuracy for correct orientation of the smallest margin

In our study, DBT showed significantly higher accuracies (68% R1, 69% R2) in defining the correct direction of the smallest margin over that with DM (44% R1, 36% R2). Except on one occasion (R1 reads for "Invasive alone" tumor subgroup), this significant relation applied for all the sub-analysis according to the tumor subgroup and lesion type. We could not find in literature any other studies that examined the accuracy of DBT for correct orientation of the smallest margin. On the other hand, in two studies (8, 10), the accuracy of DM for correct orientation of the smallest margin was reported to be 56% and 48%, respectively.

The overall agreement between radiology and pathology for orientation is still modest even with using DBT specimen (0.57 R1, 0.57 R2) but it is still better than the fair agreement using FFDM specimen (0.32 R1, 0.23 R2). Separating the agreement according to the tumor type, the highest kappa was 0.63 for DCIS and 0.63 for invasive with DCIS group using DBT specimen. The greatest kappa using FFDM specimen was for the invasive group. We could not conclude that there was a significant difference among the agreement across the different tumor subgroups, and kappa values were highly significant for all tumors in aggregates and for tumor subgroups. In one study testing the agreement between the radiology and pathology for orientation according to tumor type, the results did not show better values for purely invasive tumor group over those with DCIS either (10).

Our explanation for the unsatisfactory agreement on direction between radiology and pathology, which is also reported by other studies (8, 10), is that we cannot rely 100% on the orientation of the specimen during radiography being the same as pathology for all cases, either because of the specimen movement during the transfer or because of the nature and shape of the specimen, which are all potential errors in specimen handlings (95). And as this is a retrospective study, strict compliance with to the marking protocol cannot be assured. Also, the readers were at the disadvantage of being able to use the wire direction as guidance for specimen orientation. Therefore, all cases with confused positioning of the marker or those with missed ones were excluded from the study.

Margin status interpretation

The studies varied with regard to the definition of the optimal margin width, which also differed between countries and institutions and is still a matter of debate, ranging from 1 mm to 10 mm as the optimal minimum margin width (68). One study that used tomosynthesis in the evaluation of the breast specimen (92) used 1.0 cm as the safety margin limit, regardless of the tumor type (either invasive alone or with DCIS). Another study (77) tested different radiological cut-offs (1, 5, 10 mm) for sensitivity and specificity. In this study, the 10 mm radiological threshold provided the higher sensitivity (75%). The sensitivities of standard SR (FFDM specimen) reported as highest in literature range between 30% and 75% (8, 10, 77, 78, 85). In our institution, a clear margin is achieved if \geq 1mm and \geq 5mm is measured in pure invasive lesions and DCIS, respectively, and these are the thresholds we defined to calculate the sensitivity in our study.

In the current study, the sensitivity of FFDM specimen was 62% and 77% for DBT specimen. DBT showed significant improvement in the sensitivity over the FFDM. This is consistent with the study by Schulz-Wendtland et al. (91, 92), which showed 8% improvement in the sensitivity compared with FFDM, which was also better even after applying additional 1:1.8 magnification to the standard FFDM. His reported sensitivity was 86.6% for DBT versus 78.3% for standard FFDM and 83% for FFDM with 1:1.8 magnification. In his study, he assigned the margin as safe if ≥ 1 cm is measured to the specimen edge, regardless of the type of the tumor, which explains the higher recorded sensitives in both FFDM and DBT. We also calculated the sensitivities for individual tumor groups and lesion type subgroups, but we could not find a significant difference across them. In other words, presence of invasive tumor alone in a specimen does not reflect a significant higher sensitivity of any modality compared with the presence of DCIS alone or in combination with other tumors, which may be explained by the small sample size and, subsequently, the smaller representation across the groups.

Bland-Altman analysis was used to compare the measurements between respective imaging modalities and pathology. This assesses another two aspects of agreement: how well the measurements agree on average and on individual levels. In Bland-Altman analysis, the average of the radiological measurement and histopathological measurement is plotted against the difference between them (96). DBT specimen margin measurements were the ones closest to those from pathology reports, with only 0.8 mm average overestimation, compared to 3.3 mm overestimation using FFDM specimen. The number of cases with margin concordance between

radiology and pathology is still small for both modalities, although it is higher for DBT specimen. This signifies that the radiologist and pathologist rarely measured "identical" margins (in mm), beating in mind that we considered only the absolute measurements without adding any \pm mm difference when calculating concordance. On the other hand, there was consistently an overestimation of the margin distance by both readers using both modalities; however, the rate of this overestimation was statistically significantly less apparent for both readers using DBT specimen for margin measuring. The overestimation of the margin distance shows that the lesion itself is mostly underestimated with radiology. Lesion size underestimation using different imaging modalities is also reported in various studies (97, 98). The range of the margin overestimation in our study was between 1-13 mm using the FFDM specimen and 1-7 mm using the DBT specimen. In their study, Britton et al. concluded that SR measurement of 11 mm for the lesion margin correlates most strongly with achieving 5 mm histological margin (8).

Discordance between radiography and pathology margin measurements in our study can be explained in the context of two assumptions. First, we can assume underestimation of the tumor size, which is usually related to the problematic growth patterns of the tumor, which can be completely mammographically occult, multifocal, diffusely infiltrated or in discontinuous growth, with or without evidence of tumor mass. Second, presuming that changes may have happened during the postoperative handling of the specimen. Pancake phenomenon," which was proposed by Graham et al., usually serves as an add-on explanation of the discordance between radiography and pathology measurements. They stated that the breast tissue specimen loses volume when "flattened," losing almost 50% of its original height and subsequently increasing the width of the specimen, which can lead to misinterpretation of the actual distance between the lesion and specimen edges (95).

Wilcoxon signed rank test was performed to determine if the differences between the two modalities measurements and pathology are significant or not. For cases with correct orientation of the smallest margin, the Wilcoxon signed rank test showed that the distance measured by one reader using the DBT specimen was highly significantly different (P = 0.01) from that measured in pathology, and non-significantly different for the other reader. Whereas using FFDM specimen, both readers' measures were highly significantly different from those measured in pathology (p < 0.000001). Considering the tumor types, however, the DBT specimen did not show any significant difference from pathology measures in DCIS and pure invasive groups for either reader. The significant difference was only for the invasive + DCIS group. Most of the studies in literature that examine the accuracy of measuring the extent of breast tumor by

different imaging modalities usually relate their results to the degree of breast densities or to the BIRADS score (54-56, 97) which was not the point of interest in our work. We could not find other studies that address the question of whether the tumor type would exert an impact on the accuracy of respective imaging modalities.

Limitations

After interpreting our results, the following aspects or limitations of the study should be considered. First, DCIS, either as the sole pathology or in combination with other pathology such as IDC or ILC, formed the "overrepresented" group of lesions, and in order to create equal-sized tumors groups, a significantly larger specimen sample should be used. Second, measurement difference and possibly orientation errors could exist between pathologists, as with different radiologists. In this study, the pathology data were retrieved from pathology reports written by a different pathologist, which is the case also in the clinical routine. However, in a prospective study, all specimens could be assessed by the same pathologist, which thus could restrict the bias that may result from using multiple pathologists. Third, several factors also can cause potential errors in specimen interpretation, such as accuracy of surgical clip placement, movement of the specimen or slippage of the guided wire, all of which would affect both FFDM specimen or DBT specimen. Meticulous attention to the clip placement protocol or obtaining the specimen radiograph in the operating theater would reduce orientation errors as well as the length of time of the procedure (97, 99). We also recommend that the radiologist who performs the wire localization should also be the one who reads the specimen, and the radiologist could also compare the appearance in SR with that in the preoperative mammogram. Fourth, as is the problem with any new technology, the limited readers' experience with DBT in contrast to the lengthy experience with FFDM may also add to the non-optimal DBT performance.

We clearly must enhance our ability to point accurately to the margins involved in the initial operation using well-designated protocols for specimen interpretation as a whole and for DBT specimen in particular. That is why these study findings must be complemented by larger-scale prospective studies, taking advantage of the ongoing refinement of DBT technology.

6 Conclusion

Radiography of the excised surgical specimen following image-guided wire localization of impalpable breast lesions is now the accepted standard practice to define resection status in conserving breast surgery. The present study was performed to evaluate the usability of digital breast tomosynthesis (DBT) in performing SR and to measure its accuracy in identifying the mammographic appearance and margin status of the operated lesion, compared to (FFDM). The histopathology findings were considered to be the gold standard.

Data from 102 specimens from patients with biopsy-proven non-palpable breast cancer who underwent wire localization prior to conserving breast surgery between January 2010 and December 2012 were analyzed in this study.

DBT showed promising results in performing specimen analysis. It significantly improves the accuracy of SR regarding identification of the closest margin and sensitivity regarding margin status assessment compared to FFDM. FFDM specimen average accuracy for correct direction detection was 40%. For DBT specimen, the accuracy reached to 68.5%, which is significantly higher than the accuracy of FFDM: P-value <0.001 for R1 and <0.001 for R2.

On the level of assessing the margin status, although DBT showed better assessment capability over the FFDM but yet is not the best and still the DBT need much improvement. Of the 102 specimens, the readers assigned the correct margin status as pathology for approximately half the cases using DBT specimen (52 and 55 cases for R1 and R2, respectively), which is way better than using FFDM specimen (36) and 25 cases for R1 and R2, respectively) but again not completely satisfactory for surgeons. The rates of lesions with correct margin status detection were statistically significantly higher for DBT specimen than that for FFDM specimen for both readers. The p-values were 0.034 for R1 and < 0.00001 for R2 by performing the two-sample test for equality of proportions.

Speaking of the influence of the individual tumor type or lesion type on the specimen radiography interpretation, we could not conclude any significant difference in agreements (using Kappa test) across the different tumor subgroups or lesion types either by using DBT or FFDM. Again the higher agreement to pathology was for DBT which even though was a modest agreement (0.57 for both readers) but still better than the fair agreement of the FFDM specimen (0.32 for R1, 0.23 for R2).

Important to realize is that margin overestimation was characteristic for both imaging modalities. Wilcoxon signed rank test and Bland-Altman analysis were used to test the margin measurement correlation between each modality and the histopathological measurement. DBT specimen measurement was close to the histopathology measurement with an overestimation of only 0.6 - 0.9 mm. These values were higher for FFDM specimen (2.8 mm for R1 and 3.7 mm for R2). The Wilcoxon signed rank test showed that the distance measured by one reader using DBT specimen was highly significantly different (P = 0.01) from those measured in pathology, and non-significantly different for the other reader. Whereas using FFDM specimen, both readers' measures were highly significantly different from those measured in pathology (p < 0.000001).

Certainly DBT is a promising modality in performing specimen analysis. It significantly improves the accuracy of SR regarding identification of the closest margin and sensitivity regarding margin status assessment compared to FFDM. This could help decrease re-excision and re-operation rates. We clearly must enhance our ability to point accurately to the margins involved in the initial operation using well-designed protocols for specimen interpretation as a whole and for DBT specimen in particular. That is why these study findings must be complemented by larger-scale prospective studies, taking advantage of the ongoing refinement of DBT technology.

7 References

1. Ernster VL, Ballard-Barbash R, Barlow WE, Zheng Y, Weaver DL, Cutter G, Yankaskas BC, Rosenberg R, Carney PA, Kerlikowske K, Taplin SH, Urban N, Geller BM. Detection of ductal carcinoma in situ in women undergoing screening mammography. Journal of the National Cancer Institute. 2002;94(20):1546-54. Epub 2002/10/17.

2. Fisher B, Anderson S, Bryant J, Margolese RG, Deutsch M, Fisher ER, Jeong JH, Wolmark N. Twenty-year follow-up of a randomized trial comparing total mastectomy, lumpectomy, and lumpectomy plus irradiation for the treatment of invasive breast cancer. N Engl J Med. 2002;347(16):1233-41. Epub 2002/10/24.

3. Singletary SE. Surgical margins in patients with early-stage breast cancer treated with breast conservation therapy. American journal of surgery. 2002;184(5):383-93. Epub 2002/11/16.

4. Houssami N, Macaskill P, Marinovich ML, Dixon JM, Irwig L, Brennan ME, Solin LJ. Meta-analysis of the impact of surgical margins on local recurrence in women with early-stage invasive breast cancer treated with breast-conserving therapy. European journal of cancer. 2010;46(18):3219-32. Epub 2010/09/08.

5. European Commission. European Guidelines for Quality Assurance in Breast Cancer Screening and Diagnosis. 4 ed. Luxembourg: Office for Official Publications of the European Communities; 2006.

6. Association of Breast Surgery at B. Surgical guidelines for the management of breast cancer. European journal of surgical oncology : the journal of the European Society of Surgical Oncology and the British Association of Surgical Oncology. 2009;35 Suppl 1:1-22. Epub 2009/03/21.

7. Lakhani SR EI, Schnitt SJ, Tan P.H, van de Vijver M.J. WHO Classification of Tumours of the Breast. 4 ed. Lyon: IARC WHO Classification of Tumours, IARC Press; 2012.

8. Britton PD, Sonoda LI, Yamamoto AK, Koo B, Soh E, Goud A. Breast surgical specimen radiographs: how reliable are they? European journal of radiology. 2011;79(2):245-9. Epub 2010/03/23.

9. Coombs NJ, Vassallo PP, Parker AJ, Yiangou C. Radiological review of specimen radiographs after breast localisation biopsy is not always necessary. European journal of surgical oncology : the journal of the European Society of Surgical Oncology and the British Association of Surgical Oncology. 2006;32(5):516-9. Epub 2006/04/29.

Schmachtenberg C, Engelken F, Fischer T, Bick U, Poellinger A, Fallenberg EM.
 Intraoperative specimen radiography in patients with nonpalpable malignant breast lesions. RoFo
 Fortschritte auf dem Gebiete der Rontgenstrahlen und der Nuklearmedizin. 2012;184(7):635-42. Epub 2012/05/24.

11. Ciccarelli G, Di Virgilio MR, Menna S, Garretti L, Ala A, Giani R, Bussone R, Canavese G, Berardengo E. Radiography of the surgical specimen in early stage breast lesions: diagnostic reliability in the analysis of the resection margins. La Radiologia medica. 2007;112(3):366-76. Epub 2007/04/19.

12. Goldfeder S, Davis D, Cullinan J. Breast specimen radiography: can it predict margin status of excised breast carcinoma? Academic radiology. 2006;13(12):1453-9. Epub 2006/12/02.

13. McPherson K, Steel CM, Dixon JM. ABC of breast diseases. Breast cancerepidemiology, risk factors, and genetics. Bmj. 2000;321(7261):624-8. Epub 2000/09/08.

14. Senkus E, Kyriakides S, Penault-Llorca F, Poortmans P, Thompson A, Zackrisson S, Cardoso F. Primary breast cancer: ESMO Clinical Practice Guidelines for diagnosis, treatment and follow-up. Annals of oncology : official journal of the European Society for Medical Oncology / ESMO. 2013;24 Suppl 6:vi7-23. Epub 2013/08/24.

15. Breen N, Gentleman JF, Schiller JS. Update on mammography trends: comparisons of rates in 2000, 2005, and 2008. Cancer. 2011;117(10):2209-18. Epub 2011/04/28.

16. American, Cancer, Society. Breast Cancer Facts & Figures 2013-2014. Atlanta: American Cancer Society, Inc 2013. 2013.

17. Howlader N NA, Krapcho M, Garshell J, Neyman N, Altekruse SF, Kosary CL, Yu M, Ruhl J, Tatalovich Z, Cho H, Mariotto A, Lewis DR, Chen HS, Feuer EJ, Cronin KA (eds). SEER Cancer Statistics Review, 1975-2010, National Cancer Institute.. Bethesda, MD, <u>http://seercancergov/csr/1975_2010/</u>, based on November 2012 SEER data submission, posted to the SEER web site, April 2013.

18. Berry DA, Cronin KA, Plevritis SK, Fryback DG, Clarke L, Zelen M, Mandelblatt JS, Yakovlev AY, Habbema JD, Feuer EJ. Effect of screening and adjuvant therapy on mortality from breast cancer. N Engl J Med. 2005;353(17):1784-92. Epub 2005/10/28.

19. Kolb TM, Lichy J, Newhouse JH. Comparison of the performance of screening mammography, physical examination, and breast US and evaluation of factors that influence them: an analysis of 27,825 patient evaluations. Radiology. 2002;225(1):165-75. Epub 2002/10/02.

20. Cancer Genome Atlas N. Comprehensive molecular portraits of human breast tumours. Nature. 2012;490(7418):61-70.

21. Acevedo C, Amaya C, Lopez-Guerra JL. Rare breast tumors: Review of the literature. Reports of practical oncology and radiotherapy : journal of Greatpoland Cancer Center in Poznan and Polish Society of Radiation Oncology. 2014;19(4):267-74. Epub 2014/07/26.

22. Rosen PP. Rosen's Breast Pathology. 4 ed. Philadelphia: Lippincott Williams & Wilkins;2014.

23. Ellis IO, Cornelisse CJ, Schnitt SJ, Sasco AJ, Sastre-Garau X, Kaaks R, Bussolati G, Pisani P, Tavassoli FA, Goldgar DE, Eusebi V, Devilee P, Peterse JL, Cleton-Jansen MJ, Mukai K, Børresen-Dale AL, Tabár L, Van't Veer L, Jacquemier J, Sapino A. Tumours of the breast. In: Tavassoli F.A. DP, editor. World Health Organization Classification of Tumours Pathology and Genetics of Tumours of the Breast and Female Genital Organs. Lyon: IARC Press; 2003.

24. Virnig BA ST, Tuttle TM, Kane RL, and Wilt TJ. Diagnosis and Management of Ductal Carcinoma in Situ (DCIS). Evidence Report/Technology Assessment No. 185. Rockville, MD.: Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality 2009.

25. Sinn HP, Kreipe H. A Brief Overview of the WHO Classification of Breast Tumors, 4th Edition, Focusing on Issues and Updates from the 3rd Edition. Breast care. 2013;8(2):149-54. Epub 2014/01/15.

26. Li CI, Anderson BO, Daling JR, Moe RE. Trends in incidence rates of invasive lobular and ductal breast carcinoma. Jama. 2003;289(11):1421-4. Epub 2003/03/15.

27. Verkooijen HM, Fioretta G, Vlastos G, Morabia A, Schubert H, Sappino AP, Pelte MF, Schafer P, Kurtz J, Bouchardy C. Important increase of invasive lobular breast cancer incidence in Geneva, Switzerland. International journal of cancer Journal international du cancer. 2003;104(6):778-81. Epub 2003/03/18.

28. Hanagiri T, Nozoe T, Mizukami M, Ichiki Y, Sugaya M, Yasuda M, Takenoyama M, Sugio K, Yasumoto K. Clinicopathological characteristics of invasive lobular carcinoma of the breast. Asian journal of surgery / Asian Surgical Association. 2009;32(2):76-80. Epub 2009/05/09.

29. Pestalozzi BC. Portrait of invasive lobular carcinoma of the breast. European journal of cancer. 2009;45 Suppl 1:450-1. Epub 2009/09/25.

30. Edge SB BD, Compton CC, et al., eds. Breast. AJCC Cancer Staging Manual. 7th ed. New York, NY: Springer; 2010. p. 347-76.

31. Paci E. Summary of the evidence of breast cancer service screening outcomes in Europe and first estimate of the benefit and harm balance sheet. Journal of medical screening. 2012;19 Suppl 1:5-13. Epub 2012/11/08.

32. Tabar L, Vitak B, Chen TH, Yen AM, Cohen A, Tot T, Chiu SY, Chen SL, Fann JC, Rosell J, Fohlin H, Smith RA, Duffy SW. Swedish two-county trial: impact of mammographic screening on breast cancer mortality during 3 decades. Radiology. 2011;260(3):658-63. Epub 2011/06/30.

33. Perry N, Broeders M, de Wolf C, Tornberg S, Holland R, von Karsa L. European guidelines for quality assurance in breast cancer screening and diagnosis. Fourth edition--summary document. Annals of oncology : official journal of the European Society for Medical Oncology / ESMO. 2008;19(4):614-22. Epub 2007/11/21.

34. Berg WA, Gutierrez L, NessAiver MS, Carter WB, Bhargavan M, Lewis RS, Ioffe OB. Diagnostic accuracy of mammography, clinical examination, US, and MR imaging in preoperative assessment of breast cancer. Radiology. 2004;233(3):830-49. Epub 2004/10/16.

35. Liberman L, Morris EA, Dershaw DD, Abramson AF, Tan LK. MR imaging of the ipsilateral breast in women with percutaneously proven breast cancer. AJR American journal of roentgenology. 2003;180(4):901-10.

36. Weigert J, Steenbergen S. The connecticut experiment: the role of ultrasound in the screening of women with dense breasts. The breast journal. 2012;18(6):517-22. Epub 2012/09/27.

37. Macura KJ, Ouwerkerk R, Jacobs MA, Bluemke DA. Patterns of enhancement on breast MR images: interpretation and imaging pitfalls. Radiographics : a review publication of the Radiological Society of North America, Inc. 2006;26(6):1719-34; quiz Epub 2006/11/15.

38. Sardanelli F, Boetes C, Borisch B, Decker T, Federico M, Gilbert FJ, Helbich T, Heywang-Kobrunner SH, Kaiser WA, Kerin MJ, Mansel RE, Marotti L, Martincich L, Mauriac L, Meijers-Heijboer H, Orecchia R, Panizza P, Ponti A, Purushotham AD, Regitnig P, Del Turco MR, Thibault F, Wilson R. Magnetic resonance imaging of the breast: recommendations from the EUSOMA working group. European journal of cancer. 2010;46(8):1296-316. Epub 2010/03/23.

39. Peters NH, Borel Rinkes IH, Zuithoff NP, Mali WP, Moons KG, Peeters PH. Metaanalysis of MR imaging in the diagnosis of breast lesions. Radiology. 2008;246(1):116-24. Epub 2007/11/21.

40. Knuttel FM, Menezes GL, van den Bosch MA, Gilhuijs KG, Peters NH. Current clinical indications for magnetic resonance imaging of the breast. Journal of surgical oncology. 2014;110(1):26-31. Epub 2014/05/28.

41. Patterson SK, Roubidoux MA. Update on new technologies in digital mammography. International journal of women's health. 2014;6:781-8. Epub 2014/08/26.

42. Dobbins JT, 3rd, Godfrey DJ. Digital x-ray tomosynthesis: current state of the art and clinical potential. Physics in medicine and biology. 2003;48(19):R65-106. Epub 2003/10/29.

43. Baker JA, Lo JY. Breast tomosynthesis: state-of-the-art and review of the literature. Academic radiology. 2011;18(10):1298-310. Epub 2011/09/07.

44. Pisano ED, Gatsonis C, Hendrick E, Yaffe M, Baum JK, Acharyya S, Conant EF, Fajardo LL, Bassett L, D'Orsi C, Jong R, Rebner M. Diagnostic performance of digital versus film mammography for breast-cancer screening. N Engl J Med. 2005;353(17):1773-83. Epub 2005/09/20.

45. Rosenberg RD, Yankaskas BC, Abraham LA, Sickles EA, Lehman CD, Geller BM, Carney PA, Kerlikowske K, Buist DS, Weaver DL, Barlow WE, Ballard-Barbash R. Performance benchmarks for screening mammography. Radiology. 2006;241(1):55-66. Epub 2006/09/23.

46. Wang AT, Vachon CM, Brandt KR, Ghosh K. Breast density and breast cancer risk: a practical review. Mayo Clinic proceedings. 2014;89(4):548-57. Epub 2014/04/02.

47. Bertrand KA, Tamimi RM, Scott CG, Jensen MR, Pankratz V, Visscher D, Norman A, Couch F, Shepherd J, Fan B, Chen YY, Ma L, Beck AH, Cummings SR, Kerlikowske K, Vachon CM. Mammographic density and risk of breast cancer by age and tumor characteristics. Breast cancer research : BCR. 2013;15(6):R104. Epub 2013/11/06.

48. Poplack SP, Tosteson TD, Kogel CA, Nagy HM. Digital breast tomosynthesis: initial experience in 98 women with abnormal digital screening mammography. AJR American journal of roentgenology. 2007;189(3):616-23. Epub 2007/08/24.

49. Svahn TM, Chakraborty DP, Ikeda D, Zackrisson S, Do Y, Mattsson S, Andersson I. Breast tomosynthesis and digital mammography: a comparison of diagnostic accuracy. The British journal of radiology. 2012;85(1019):e1074-82. Epub 2012/06/08.

50. Skaane P, Gullien R, Bjorndal H, Eben EB, Ekseth U, Haakenaasen U, Jahr G, Jebsen IN, Krager M. Digital breast tomosynthesis (DBT): initial experience in a clinical setting. Acta radiologica. 2012;53(5):524-9. Epub 2012/05/18.

51. Haas BM, Kalra V, Geisel J, Raghu M, Durand M, Philpotts LE. Comparison of tomosynthesis plus digital mammography and digital mammography alone for breast cancer screening. Radiology. 2013;269(3):694-700. Epub 2013/08/01.

52. Skaane P, Bandos AI, Gullien R, Eben EB, Ekseth U, Haakenaasen U, Izadi M, Jebsen IN, Jahr G, Krager M, Niklason LT, Hofvind S, Gur D. Comparison of digital mammography alone and digital mammography plus tomosynthesis in a population-based screening program. Radiology. 2013;267(1):47-56. Epub 2013/01/09.

53. Roth RG, Maidment AD, Weinstein SP, Roth SO, Conant EF. Digital breast tomosynthesis: lessons learned from early clinical implementation. Radiographics : a review publication of the Radiological Society of North America, Inc. 2014;34(4):E89-102. Epub 2014/07/16.

54. Luparia A, Mariscotti G, Durando M, Ciatto S, Bosco D, Campanino PP, Castellano I, Sapino A, Gandini G. Accuracy of tumour size assessment in the preoperative staging of breast cancer: comparison of digital mammography, tomosynthesis, ultrasound and MRI. La Radiologia medica. 2013;118(7):1119-36. Epub 2013/06/27.

55. Mun HS, Kim HH, Shin HJ, Cha JH, Ruppel PL, Oh HY, Chae EY. Assessment of extent of breast cancer: comparison between digital breast tomosynthesis and full-field digital mammography. Clinical radiology. 2013;68(12):1254-9. Epub 2013/08/24.

56. Seo N, Kim HH, Shin HJ, Cha JH, Kim H, Moon JH, Gong G, Ahn SH, Son BH. Digital breast tomosynthesis versus full-field digital mammography: comparison of the accuracy of lesion measurement and characterization using specimens. Acta radiologica. 2014;55(6):661-7. Epub 2013/09/06.

57. Destounis SV, Arieno AL, Morgan RC. Preliminary clinical experience with digital breast tomosynthesis in the visualization of breast microcalcifications. Journal of clinical imaging science. 2013;3:65. Epub 2013/01/01.

58. Kopans D, Gavenonis S, Halpern E, Moore R. Calcifications in the breast and digital breast tomosynthesis. The breast journal. 2011;17(6):638-44. Epub 2011/09/13.

59. Spangler ML, Zuley ML, Sumkin JH, Abrams G, Ganott MA, Hakim C, Perrin R, Chough DM, Shah R, Gur D. Detection and classification of calcifications on digital breast tomosynthesis and 2D digital mammography: a comparison. AJR American journal of roentgenology. 2011;196(2):320-4. Epub 2011/01/25.

60. Tagliafico A, Mariscotti G, Durando M, Stevanin C, Tagliafico G, Martino L, Bignotti B, Calabrese M, Houssami N. Characterisation of microcalcification clusters on 2D digital mammography (FFDM) and digital breast tomosynthesis (DBT): does DBT underestimate microcalcification clusters? Results of a multicentre study. European radiology. 2015;25(1):9-14. Epub 2014/08/29.

61. Partyka L, Lourenco AP, Mainiero MB. Detection of mammographically occult architectural distortion on digital breast tomosynthesis screening: initial clinical experience. AJR American journal of roentgenology. 2014;203(1):216-22. Epub 2014/06/22.

62. Elizabeth A. Rafferty JMP, Liane E. Philpotts, Steven P. Poplack, Jules H. Sumkin, Elkan F. Halpern, Loren T. Niklason. Assessing Radiologist Performance Using Combined

Digital Mammography and Breast Tomosynthesis Compared with Digital Mammography Alone: Results of a Multicenter, Multireader Trial. Radiology. 2013;266.

63. Dang PA, Freer PE, Humphrey KL, Halpern EF, Rafferty EA. Addition of tomosynthesis to conventional digital mammography: effect on image interpretation time of screening examinations. Radiology. 2014;270(1):49-56. Epub 2013/12/21.

64. Gennaro G, Hendrick RE, Ruppel P, Chersevani R, di Maggio C, La Grassa M, Pescarini L, Polico I, Proietti A, Baldan E, Bezzon E, Pomerri F, Muzzio PC. Performance comparison of single-view digital breast tomosynthesis plus single-view digital mammography with two-view digital mammography. European radiology. 2013;23(3):664-72. Epub 2012/09/15.

65. Rafferty EA, Park JM, Philpotts LE, Poplack SP, Sumkin JH, Halpern EF, Niklason LT. Diagnostic accuracy and recall rates for digital mammography and digital mammography combined with one-view and two-view tomosynthesis: results of an enriched reader study. AJR American journal of roentgenology. 2014;202(2):273-81. Epub 2014/01/24.

66. Goldhirsch A, Winer EP, Coates AS, Gelber RD, Piccart-Gebhart M, Thurlimann B, Senn HJ. Personalizing the treatment of women with early breast cancer: highlights of the St Gallen International Expert Consensus on the Primary Therapy of Early Breast Cancer 2013. Annals of oncology : official journal of the European Society for Medical Oncology / ESMO. 2013;24(9):2206-23. Epub 2013/08/07.

67. Temple WJ, Russell ML, Parsons LL, Huber SM, Jones CA, Bankes J, Eliasziw M. Conservation surgery for breast cancer as the preferred choice: a prospective analysis. Journal of clinical oncology : official journal of the American Society of Clinical Oncology. 2006;24(21):3367-73. Epub 2006/07/20.

68. Krontiras H, Lancaster RB, Urist MM. What is a clear margin in breast conserving cancer surgery? Current treatment options in oncology. 2014;15(1):79-85. Epub 2014/01/08.

69. Schwartz GF, Veronesi U, Clough KB, Dixon JM, Fentiman IS, Heywang-Kobrunner SH, Holland R, Hughes KS, Mansel RE, Margolese R, Mendelson EB, Olivotto IA, Palazzo JP, Solin LJ. Consensus conference on breast conservation. Journal of the American College of Surgeons. 2006;203(2):198-207. Epub 2006/07/26.

70. Schwartz GF, Veronesi U, Clough KB, Dixon JM, Fentiman IS, Heywang-Kobrunner SH, Holland R, Hughes KS, Mansel RE, Margolese R, Mendelson EB, Olivotto IA, Palazzo JP, Solin LJ, Consensus Conference C. Consensus conference on breast conservation. J Am Coll Surg. 2006;203(2):198-207.

71. Angarita FA, Nadler A, Zerhouni S, Escallon J. Perioperative measures to optimize margin clearance in breast conserving surgery. Surg Oncol. 2014;23(2):81-91. Epub 2014/04/12.

72. National Health Service. Breast Screening P, Association of Breast Surgery at B, British Association of Surgical Oncology. National Coordinating Group for Surgeons working with the Association of Breast Surgery at B. Quality assurance guidelines for surgeons in breast cancer screening. 3rd ed. Sheffield: Nhsbsp; 2003. 46 p.

73. Kreienberg R. AU, Follmann M., Kopp I., kühn T., Wöckel A., Zemmler T. Interdisziplinäre S3-Leitlinie für die Diagnostik, Therapie und Nachsorge des Mammakarzinoms. 1.Aktualisierung 2012. AWMF-Register Nr. 032/045, (Accessed 26.12.2015, at <u>http://www.senologie.org/fileadmin/downloads/S3-Brustkrebs-v2012-OL-Langversion.pdf)</u>.

74. Krekel NM, Zonderhuis BM, Stockmann HB, Schreurs WH, van der Veen H, de Lange de Klerk ES, Meijer S, van den Tol MP. A comparison of three methods for nonpalpable breast cancer excision. European journal of surgical oncology : the journal of the European Society of Surgical Oncology and the British Association of Surgical Oncology. 2011;37(2):109-15. Epub 2011/01/05.

75. Sajid MS, Parampalli U, Haider Z, Bonomi R. Comparison of radioguided occult lesion localization (ROLL) and wire localization for non-palpable breast cancers: a meta-analysis. Journal of surgical oncology. 2012;105(8):852-8. Epub 2012/01/04.

76. Weber WP, Engelberger S, Viehl CT, Zanetti-Dallenbach R, Kuster S, Dirnhofer S, Wruk D, Oertli D, Marti WR. Accuracy of frozen section analysis versus specimen radiography during breast-conserving surgery for nonpalpable lesions. World journal of surgery. 2008;32(12):2599-606. Epub 2008/10/07.

77. Mazouni C, Rouzier R, Balleyguier C, Sideris L, Rochard F, Delaloge S, Marsiglia H, Mathieu MC, Spielman M, Garbay JR. Specimen radiography as predictor of resection margin status in non-palpable breast lesions. Clinical radiology. 2006;61(9):789-96. Epub 2006/08/15.

78. McCormick JT, Keleher AJ, Tikhomirov VB, Budway RJ, Caushaj PF. Analysis of the use of specimen mammography in breast conservation therapy. American journal of surgery. 2004;188(4):433-6. Epub 2004/10/12.

79. Hadzikadic Gusic L, McGuire KP, Ozmen T, Soran A, Thomas CR, McAuliffe PF, Diego EJ, Bonaventura M, Johnson RR, Ahrendt GM. Margin width is not predictive of residual disease on re-excision in breast conserving therapy. Journal of surgical oncology. 2014;109(5):426-30. Epub 2013/12/18.

80. Seretis C. Significance of the resection margin and risk factors for close or positive resection margin in patients undergoing breast-conserving surgery (by Drs Gatek and Vrana). Journal of BUON : official journal of the Balkan Union of Oncology. 2013;18(3):803-4. Epub 2013/09/26.

81. Atkins J, Al Mushawah F, Appleton CM, Cyr AE, Gillanders WE, Aft RL, Eberlein TJ, Gao F, Margenthaler JA. Positive margin rates following breast-conserving surgery for stage I-III breast cancer: palpable versus nonpalpable tumors. The Journal of surgical research. 2012;177(1):109-15. Epub 2012/04/21.

82. Waljee JF, Hu ES, Newman LA, Alderman AK. Predictors of re-excision among women undergoing breast-conserving surgery for cancer. Annals of surgical oncology. 2008;15(5):1297-303. Epub 2008/02/09.

83. Aziz D, Rawlinson E, Narod SA, Sun P, Lickley HL, McCready DR, Holloway CM. The role of reexcision for positive margins in optimizing local disease control after breast-conserving surgery for cancer. The breast journal. 2006;12(4):331-7. Epub 2006/07/20.

84. Cardoso MJ, Oliveira H, Cardoso J. Assessing cosmetic results after breast conserving surgery. Journal of surgical oncology. 2014;110(1):37-44. Epub 2014/03/14.

85. Graham RA, Homer MJ, Sigler CJ, Safaii H, Schmid CH, Marchant DJ, Smith TJ. The efficacy of specimen radiography in evaluating the surgical margins of impalpable breast carcinoma. AJR American journal of roentgenology. 1994;162(1):33-6. Epub 1994/01/01.

86. Kim SH, Cornacchi SD, Heller B, Farrokhyar F, Babra M, Lovrics PJ. An evaluation of intraoperative digital specimen mammography versus conventional specimen radiography for the excision of nonpalpable breast lesions. American journal of surgery. 2013;205(6):703-10. Epub 2013/03/08.

87. Bathla L, Harris A, Davey M, Sharma P, Silva E. High resolution intra-operative twodimensional specimen mammography and its impact on second operation for re-excision of positive margins at final pathology after breast conservation surgery. American journal of surgery. 2011;202(4):387-94. Epub 2011/09/29.

88. Fleming FJ, Hill AD, Mc Dermott EW, O'Doherty A, O'Higgins NJ, Quinn CM. Intraoperative margin assessment and re-excision rate in breast conserving surgery. European journal of surgical oncology : the journal of the European Society of Surgical Oncology and the British Association of Surgical Oncology. 2004;30(3):233-7. Epub 2004/03/19.

89. Lei J, Yang P, Zhang L, Wang Y, Yang K. Diagnostic accuracy of digital breast tomosynthesis versus digital mammography for benign and malignant lesions in breasts: a meta-analysis. European radiology. 2014;24(3):595-602. Epub 2013/10/15.

90. Durand MA, Haas BM, Yao X, Geisel JL, Raghu M, Hooley RJ, Horvath LJ, Philpotts LE. Early clinical experience with digital breast tomosynthesis for screening mammography. Radiology. 2015;274(1):85-92. Epub 2014/09/05.

91. Schulz-Wendtland R, Dilbat G, Bani MR, Lux MP, Meier-Meitinger M, Wenkel E, Schwab S, Beckmann MW, Uder M, Adamietz B. Use of Tomosynthesis in Intraoperative Digital Specimen Radiography - Is a Reduction of Breast Re-excision Rates Possible? Geburtshilfe und Frauenheilkunde. 2011;71(12):1080-4. Epub 2011/12/01.

92. Schulz-Wendtland R, Dilbat G, Bani M, Fasching PA, Heusinger K, Lux MP, Loehberg CR, Brehm B, Hammon M, Saake M, Dankerl P, Jud SM, Rauh C, Bayer CM, Beckmann MW, Uder M, Meier-Meitinger M. Full Field Digital Mammography (FFDM) versus CMOS Technology, Specimen Radiography System (SRS) and Tomosynthesis (DBT) - Which System Can Optimise Surgical Therapy? Geburtshilfe und Frauenheilkunde. 2013;73(5):422-7. Epub 2014/04/29.

93. Urano M, Shiraki N, Kawai T, Goto T, Endo Y, Yoshimoto N, Toyama T, Shibamoto Y. Digital mammography versus digital breast tomosynthesis for detection of breast cancer in the intraoperative specimen during breast-conserving surgery. Breast cancer. 2016;23(5):706-11. Epub 2015/07/23.

94. Teertstra HJ, Loo CE, van den Bosch MA, van Tinteren H, Rutgers EJ, Muller SH, Gilhuijs KG. Breast tomosynthesis in clinical practice: initial results. European radiology. 2010;20(1):16-24. Epub 2009/08/07.

95. Graham RA, Homer MJ, Katz J, Rothschild J, Safaii H, Supran S. The pancake phenomenon contributes to the inaccuracy of margin assessment in patients with breast cancer. American journal of surgery. 2002;184(2):89-93. Epub 2002/08/10.

96. Bland JM, Altman DG. Comparing methods of measurement: why plotting difference against standard method is misleading. Lancet. 1995;346(8982):1085-7.

97. Fornvik D, Zackrisson S, Ljungberg O, Svahn T, Timberg P, Tingberg A, Andersson I. Breast tomosynthesis: Accuracy of tumor measurement compared with digital mammography and ultrasonography. Acta radiologica. 2010;51(3):240-7. Epub 2010/01/29.

98. Bosch AM, Kessels AG, Beets GL, Rupa JD, Koster D, van Engelshoven JM, von Meyenfeldt MF. Preoperative estimation of the pathological breast tumour size by physical examination, mammography and ultrasound: a prospective study on 105 invasive tumours. European journal of radiology. 2003;48(3):285-92. Epub 2003/12/04.

99. Camp MS, Valero MG, Opara N, Benabou K, Cutone L, Caragacianu D, Dominici L, Golshan M. Intraoperative digital specimen mammography: a significant improvement in operative efficiency. American journal of surgery. 2013;206(4):526-9. Epub 2013/06/29.

List of abbreviations

DCIS:	Ductal carcinomas in situ.
BCS:	Breast Conserving Surgery.
SR:	Specimen radiography.
DBT:	Digital Breast Tomosynthesis.
TNM:	tumor-node-metastases staging
ER:	estrogen receptor
PR:	progesterone receptor
HER2:	Human epidermal growth factor receptor 2
IDC, NOS:	Invasive ductal carcinoma-not otherwise specified
ILC:	invasive lobular carcinoma
NST:	invasive carcinoma of no special type
LCIS:	lobular carcinoma in situ
US:	ultrasonography
MRI:	magnetic resonance imaging
BRCA1/BRO	CA2: breast cancer type 1/2 susceptibility protein
HP:	permanent section histopathology
M:	mass
AD:	architectural distortion (AD),
Ca++:	clustered calcifications

Affidavit

"I, [Heba, Amer] certify under penalty of perjury by my own signature that I have submitted the thesis on the topic [Specimen Radiography: Digital Breast Tomosynthesis versus Full Field Digital Mammography – Which Modality provides more accurate prediction of Margin Status?] I wrote this thesis independently and without assistance from third parties, I used no other aids than the listed sources and resources.

All points based literally or in spirit on publications or presentations of other authors are, as such, in proper citations (see "uniform requirements for manuscripts (URM)" the ICMJE www.icmje.org) indicated. The sections on methodology (in particular practical work, laboratory requirements, statistical processing) and results (in particular images, graphics and tables) correspond to the URM (s.o) and are answered by me. My interest in any publications to this dissertation correspond to those that are specified in the following joint declaration with the responsible person and supervisor. All publications resulting from this thesis and which I am author correspond to the URM (see above) and I am solely responsible.

The importance of this affidavit and the criminal consequences of a false affidavit (section 156,161 of the Criminal Code) are known to me and I understand the rights and responsibilities stated therein.

Date

Signature

"My curriculum vitae does not appear in the electronic version of my paper for reasons of data protection."
Declaration of any eventual publications

[Heba Amer] had the following share in the following publications:

Publication 1:

Digital breast tomosynthesis versus full-field digital mammography-Which modality provides more accurate prediction of margin status in specimen radiography?

Amer HA, Schmitzberger F, Ingold-Heppner B, Kussmaul J, El Tohamy MF, Tantawy HI, Hamm B, Makowski M, Fallenberg EM. Eur J Radiol. 2017 Aug;93:258-264. doi: 10.1016/j.ejrad.2017.05.041. Epub 2017 Jun 3. *Contribution in detail (please briefly explain):* Study design, data collection, statistical analysis, Literature search, Drafting in the manuscript

Publication 2: : H Amer, F Schmitzberger, Julia Kußmaul, M El Tohamy , H Tantawy, EM Fallenberg Digital breast tomosynthesis vs mammography: which modality provides more accurate prediction of margin status in specimen radiography?, *European Congress of Radiology, Wien 2016*.

Contribution in detail (please briefly explain): Study design, data collection, statistical analysis, Literature search, Drafting in the manuscript

Publication 3: H Amer, Julia Kußmaul, M El Tohamy, H Tantawy, EM Fallenberg, Specimen Radiograph: Digital Breast Tomosynthesis versus Full Field Digital Mammography Which Modality May Guarantee Negative Margin Status?, *International Congress of Radiology, Dubai 2014*.

Contribution in detail (please briefly explain): Study design, data collection, statistical analysis, Literature search, Drafting in the manuscript

Signature, date and stamp of the supervising University teacher

Signature of the doctoral candidate

Acknowledgement

I am honored to express my deepest appreciation and profound gratitude to my advisor **Dr**. **Eva Maria Fallenberg** who has given me the privilege to work under her supervision. Her planning, constant guidance, generous cooperation and overwhelming supports have made the accomplishment of this work possible. I could not have imagined having a better advisor and mentor for my study.

I would like to express my sincere thanks and gratefulness to **Florian Schmitzberger**, for his competent statistical advice and helpful suggestions and support.

I am particularly grateful to **Dr. Julia Kußmaul** for her contribution in this work.

Special thanks to the **Egyptian Ministry of Higher Education** for their financial support and for making this thesis possible completed.

I would like to extend my thanks to **Prof. Dr. Manal F. El Tohamy** and **Prof Dr. Hazim I. Tantawy** Professors of diagnostic radiology, Faculty of Medicine, Zagazig University, who offered much of advice through my work in this study and for their encouragement.

Last but not the least; I would like to thank my family: the greatest gift I ever have my beloved husband Mohamed for his unconditional love, patience, and continual support, my parents for their dedication, tremendous sacrifices and for showing faith in me over years and to my brother and sisters for supporting me spiritually throughout writing this thesis and my life in general.

Heba Ahmed Ibrahim Amer